# A Theoretical and Numerical Analysis of the Faraday Wave Experiment

by

Marième Ngom MEng (ENSEEIHT) 2013 M.S. (Université Toulouse-III-Paul Sabatier) 2013 M.S. (Université Paris XI) 2014

#### THESIS

Submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Mathematics in the Graduate College of the University of Illinois at Chicago, 2019

Chicago, Illinois

Defense Committee: Prof. David P. Nicholls, Chair and Advisor Prof. Gerard Awanou Prof. Mimi Dai Prof. Irina Nenciu Prof. Jie Liang, BioEngineering Copyright by

Marième Ngom

2019

To Mouhamed Ngom,

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

First, I'd like to thank my wonderful advisor Prof. David Nicholls for his guidance and his patience throughout these past four years. Thank you for your invaluable mathematics insights, I am in admiration of your knowledge in fluid dynamics and in your mathematical rigor. I couldn't have asked for a better advisor. In a more personal level, thank you for your flexibility which made it possible for me to juggle between my life (pregnancy and motherhood among other things) and finishing up this PhD in a timely manner.

I'd also to thank Prof. Awanou for being an awesome mentor during my first year at UIC and for agreeing to be on my committee. I'd also like to warmly thank Prof. Nenciu, Prof. Dai and Prof. Liang for agreeing to sit in my committee.

I'd like to thank a few professors who helped be a better mathematician. Mr. Martel, Mr. Ndane Sarr, Mr. Ndiaye PC and all of my math teachers at the Lycée de Mboro and at Fénelon, thank you! Prof. Gratton and Prof. Amestoy, thank you for initiating me to research and for helping me get my first research experiences.

Thank you to my wonderful classmates at UIC who made these five years more enjoyable, especially Aida, Mano, my math doppelganger Xin and all of the members of the Lunch Gang. Francois Domagni, thank you for helping me settle in in Chicago, I am forever grateful for that. Thank you to Maureen and Lisa for their help and for making it easy and to navigate the administrative related questions and for being such nice and wondeful persons.

I also want to thank my friend, Macina, thank you for availability and for listening to my rants

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS (Continued)

and complaints about everything while you were yourself busy with your own thesis and your own life. Mai and Chitou, thank you for your being such great friends!

I couldn't have gone through the last four years without the support of my wonderful siblings, Sissi thank you for always lifting me up, for being a great friend and for paving the way. Mamadou and Amadou, my wonderful brothers, thank you so much for being such awesome brothers and for your support, you've lifted me up countless times without even realizing it! Ahmadou, my dear husband, thank you for everything and particularly for your patience. I wouldn't have done it without your support, especially during the last year. Issa, my dear son, thank you for being my inspiration and for being such a perfect baby. Most of all, thank you for being a great sleeper early on :D. I love you.

Last but not least, Mummy and Daddy, thank you, thank you, thank you. I couldn't have done any of this without you. Daddy, thank you for passing your passion for Math to me and for helping me be a better mathematician by giving me the "method". I have fond memories of us solving my math homeworks together and of all of us solving math trivias in your car. Mommy, I am so grateful for your guidance in all of the stages of my life and for always lovingly pushing me to give my best in everything and in particular in my studies. Thank you to you both for always pushing me to give the best and to be the best version of myself. Thank you for always empowering me, for your support and for your love. I dedicate this thesis to you two.

# CONTRIBUTIONS OF AUTHORS

Most of Chapter 1, all of Chapter 2 and the appendices of this thesis are based verbatim on the work of the author of this thesis Marieme Ngom and of her advisor David P. Nicholls entitled *Well-posedness and analyticity of solutions to a water wave problem with viscosity* published in the *Journal of Differential Equations, Volume 265 (2018, pages 5031-5065)* (62). Under the supervision and guidance of Prof. David P. Nicholls, Marieme Ngom carried out most of the research and numerical simulations presented in Chapter 3.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

# **CHAPTER**

1	INTRO	DUCTION
	1.1	Governing Equations
	1.2	Reformulation on a Fixed Domain
	1.2.1	A Boundary Perturbation Expansion
<b>2</b>	WELL-I	POSEDNESS
	2.1	Introduction
	2.2	Function Spaces
	2.3	A Fundamental Lemma for the Elliptic Problem
	2.4	A Fundamental Lemma for the Parabolic Problem
	2.5	A Fundamental Lemma for the Linearized Water Wave Prob-
	-	lem with Viscosity
	2.6	An Inductive Lemma
	2.7	Well–Posedness Proof
	2.8	Conclusions
3	NUME	RICAL SIMULATIONS
	3.1	Introduction $\ldots \ldots 50$
	3.2	The Surface formulation of Zakharov, Craig and Sulem 50
	3.3	2D Traveling Water Waves
	3.3.1	Derivation of the exact solutions
	3.3.2	Solving the Water Wave Equations
	3.3.3	Simulation of two-dimensional traveling waves
	3.4	3D Traveling Water Waves
	3.4.1	Derivation of the exact solutions
	3.4.2	Simulation of three-dimensional traveling waves
	3.5	The Faraday Wave Experiment
	3.5.1	Derivation of a Mathieu type Equation
	3.5.1.1	Linear Solutions and Spatial Periodicity
	3.5.1.2	Comparison with HOPS methods
	3.5.2	Numerical Stability   78
4	CONCL	USION
	ΔΡΡΓΝ	DICES
		$\mathbf{Prods}  \mathbf{A} \qquad \qquad$
	App	$\mathbf{P}_{\mathbf{P}} = \mathbf{P}_{\mathbf{P}} = $
	App	

# TABLE OF CONTENTS (Continued)

# **CHAPTER** PAGE CITED LITERATURE

91

92

102

# LIST OF TABLES

TABLE		PAGE
Ι	Relative Errors for different values of the Amplitude $F$ of the forc-	
	ing for $N = 16$ Taylor Orders, $N_x = 16$ Fourier terms and $\varepsilon = \frac{1}{100}$	
		77

# LIST OF FIGURES

# **FIGURE**

# PAGE

1	Numerical approximation of a two-dimensional traveling wave solu-		
	tion for $\varepsilon = \frac{1}{100}$ at $t = 0, t = \frac{T}{2}, t = T$ using $N = 8$ Taylor orders in the		
	approximation of the DNO.	57	
2	Illustration of a nontruly 3D traveling wave solution for $(\tilde{p}, \tilde{q}) = (1, 1)$	63	
3	Numerical approximation of a 3D traveling wave solution for $\varepsilon = \frac{1}{100}$		
	at $t = 0, t = \frac{3T}{4}, t = T$ using $N = 4$ Taylor orders in the approximation		
	of the DNO and $(\tilde{p}, \tilde{q}) = (1, 1)$	66	
4	Numerical approximation of a 3D traveling wave solution for $\varepsilon = \frac{1}{100}$		
	at $t = 0, t = \frac{2T}{3}, t = T$ using $N = 4$ Taylor orders in the approximation		
	of the DNO and $(\tilde{p}, \tilde{q}) = (2, 2)$	68	
5	A comparision between the solutions obtained by solving a Mathieu		
	equation and the solutions obtained using our algorithm for $N = 16$		
	Taylor orders, $N_x = 16$ Fourier terms, $\varepsilon = \frac{1}{100}$ and $F = 0.$	72	
6	A comparision between the solutions obtained by solving a Mathieu		
	equation and the solutions obtained using our algorithm for $N = 16$		
	Taylor orders, $N_x = 16$ Fourier terms, $\varepsilon = \frac{1}{100}$ and $F = 0.23$	73	
7	A comparision between the solutions obtained by solving a Mathieu		
	equation and the solutions obtained using our algorithm for $N = 16$		
	Taylor orders, $N_x = 16$ Fourier terms, $\varepsilon = \frac{1}{100}$ and $F = 0.39$	74	
8	A comparision between the solutions obtained by solving a Mathieu		
	equation and the solutions obtained using our algorithm for $N = 16$		
	Taylor orders, $N_x = 16$ Fourier terms, $\varepsilon = \frac{1}{100}$ and $F = 1.30$	75	
9	Relative error between the Mathieu equation solution and our algo-		
	rithm solution for different $N_x$ Fourier terms, $N = 16$ Taylor orders,		
	$\varepsilon = \frac{1}{100}$ and $F = 1.30$	76	
10	Stability tongues for water and air, $F$ is the amplitude of the vertical		
	forcing and $k$ is the wavenumber. $\ldots$	78	

## SUMMARY

This thesis focuses on the well-posedness and stability of the Water Wave Equation in the context of the Faraday wave experiment. We prove that the solutions to the viscous water wave equation formulated by Dias, Dyachenko and Zakharov (DDZ) and supplemented with viscosity, surface tension and small vertical forcing is well-posed. We then derive some numerical stability results in the case of larger forcing and solve these equations numerically by using High Order Perturbation of Surfaces (HOPS) methods. We validate our code by first testing it in the case of traveling waves where exact solutions can be derived and by testing our approach against methods present in the literature.

## CHAPTER 1

## INTRODUCTION

(Previously published as Ngom, M. and Nicholls, D. P.: Well-posedness and analyticity of solutions to a water wave problem with viscosity. J. Differential Equations, 265:5031-5075, 2018.)

One of the central problems in fluid mechanics is the accurate modeling of the free-surface motion of a large body of water (e.g., a lake or an ocean) (55; 99; 1). It is not only a problem of classical interest (97; 3; 100; 17; 53), but also one of present importance due to its role in a number of applications from the formation and movement of sandbars, to the forces generated by waves on open-ocean oil rigs, to the propagation of tsunamis and the transport of pollutants. The "water wave equations" are the most faithful and successful model for this problem, but they have a surprisingly difficult and subtle well-posedness theory (103; 104; 13; 12; 56). We refer the interested reader to these papers, their extensive bibliographies, and the recent collection (18) for the state of the art in the field (in particular, see the chapters by Ambrose (11) and Wu (105)).

Due to the extremely important role of this model, we were inspired to find a new proof of well–posedness which did not rely on the sophisticated technology required in the papers mentioned above. While this has proven elusive, we demonstrate in this thesis that if a physically motivated viscosity is added, then a straightforward existence and uniqueness result can be established. For this we follow the lead of (8) where such a philosophy was pursued for a weakly nonlinear approximation of the full water wave problem.

Another motivation for this work is modeling the Faraday wave experiment (35) which considers the motion of the free air-fluid interface of a container of fluid which is being periodically shaken from below. As it is usually the case when studying the Faraday wave experiment, we produced a stability diagram of growth rate versus forcing and frequency similar to the ones provided by (102) where the governing equations were transformed into a Mathieu type equation. Here, we use a High Order Perturbation of Surfaces (HOPS) method (74) and a fourth order Runge-Kutta method to simulate the experiment.

The rest of this thesis is organized as follows: here in Chapter 1, we present our governing equations, then, in Chapter 2, we present our well-posedness theorem before showing in Chapter 3 our numerical results and simulations. These begin with the case of a traveling water solution and move to the case of the Faraday wave experiment.

### 1.1 Governing Equations

The well-known (55; 99; 1) equations governing the motion of two dimensional laterally periodic gravity-capillary water waves on a fluid of depth h are

$$\Delta \varphi = 0, \qquad \qquad -h < y < \eta$$

$$\partial_y \varphi = 0, \qquad \qquad y = -h,$$

$$\partial_t \varphi = -g\eta + \sigma \partial_x^2 \eta + \sigma \partial_x \left[ (\partial_x \eta) H(\partial_x \eta) \right] - \frac{1}{2} (\partial_x \varphi)^2 - \frac{1}{2} (\partial_y \varphi)^2, \qquad y = \eta,$$

where  $\varphi$  is the velocity potential  $(\mathbf{u} = \nabla \varphi), y = \eta$  is the free air-fluid interface,

$$H(\partial_x \eta) := \frac{1}{\sqrt{1 + (\partial_x \eta)^2}} - 1,$$

and g > 0 and  $\sigma > 0$  are the constants of gravity and surface tension, respectively. These are supplemented with the boundary conditions

$$\varphi(x+2\pi, y, t) = \varphi(x, y, t), \quad \eta(x+2\pi, t) = \eta(x, t),$$

and initial conditions

$$\eta(x,0) = \eta^{(0)}(x), \quad \varphi(x,\eta^{(0)},0) = \xi^{(0)}(x),$$

where standard elliptic theory (32) reveals that specifying the initial velocity potential at the *surface* is sufficient. We supplement this with viscous terms first introduced by Dias, Dyachenko, and Zakharov (30) resulting in the "water wave equations with viscosity"

$$\Delta \varphi = 0, \qquad \qquad -h < y < \eta, \qquad (1.1.1a)$$

$$\partial_y \varphi = 0,$$
  $y = -h,$  (1.1.1b)

$$\partial_t \eta = \partial_y \varphi + 2\mu \partial_x^2 \eta - (\partial_x \eta) \partial_x \varphi, \qquad \qquad y = \eta, \qquad (1.1.1c)$$

$$\partial_t \varphi = -g\eta + \sigma \partial_x^2 \eta - 2\mu \partial_y^2 \varphi + \sigma \partial_x \left[ (\partial_x \eta) H(\partial_x \eta) \right] - \frac{1}{2} (\partial_x \varphi)^2 - \frac{1}{2} (\partial_y \varphi)^2, \qquad \qquad y = \eta, \qquad (1.1.1d)$$

$$\varphi(x,\eta,0) = \xi^{(0)}(x),$$
 (1.1.1e)

$$\eta(x,0) = \eta^{(0)}(x), \tag{1.1.1f}$$

for a surface viscosity parameter  $\mu > 0$ . In these we have slightly modified Dias, Dyachenko, and Zakharov's equations by dropping the bottom viscosity terms included in (31). We will show that this problem is well–posed with analytic solutions.

Remark 1.1.1. We make two important observations: First, the mass

$$M = \int_0^{2\pi} \eta(x,t) \ dx,$$

is conserved by the flow. Indeed, it is well-known in the inviscid case (see, e.g., (26)) that

$$\partial_t [M]_{\mu=0} = \partial_t \int_0^{2\pi} \eta(x,t) \, dx = \int_0^{2\pi} \partial_t \eta(x,t) \, dx = \int_0^{2\pi} \left[ \partial_y \varphi - (\partial_x \eta) \partial_x \varphi \right]_{y=\eta} = 0.$$

The addition of viscosity introduces only the term  $\int_0^{2\pi} \mu \partial_x^2 \eta \, dx$  to this computation, which is zero as it features an exact derivative and  $\eta$  is periodic.

Second, one can arrange for the mean of the *surface* velocity

$$\xi(x,t) := \varphi(x,\eta(x,t),t),$$

to remain zero if it is initially set that way. For this one must remember that the velocity potential is only meaningfully defined up to a time-dependent constant (55; 99; 1),

$$\varphi(x, y, t) = \tilde{\varphi}(x, y, t) + C(t).$$

With this we can consider the average surface velocity potentials

$$\Xi(t) = \int_0^{2\pi} \varphi(x,\eta,t) \, dx, \quad \tilde{\Xi}(t) = \int_0^{2\pi} \tilde{\varphi}(x,\eta,t) \, dx = \Xi(t) - 2\pi C(t) dx$$

So, if we choose  $C(t) = \Xi(t)/(2\pi)$  and drop the tildes we are done. Thus we restrict our function spaces by requiring  $M = \Xi = 0$ .

#### 1.2 Reformulation on a Fixed Domain

It was shown in (79; 81; 49) how a simple change of variables could be used to demonstrate the analyticity of Dirichlet–Neumann Operators (DNOs) with respect to sufficiently small and regular surface deformations  $\eta = \varepsilon f$ . The problem of computing DNOs for Laplace's equation is closely related to the water wave problem and, in fact, our equations could be equivalently restated at the fluid surface in terms of these operators (see, e.g., (29; 28; 64)), though we do not pursue it in this chapter, we do so in chapter 3.

To imitate this success for DNOs in the context of the water wave problem with viscosity, we follow the lead of (79) and perform the domain–flattening change of variables (known as  $\sigma$ -coordinates (95) and the C–Method (20))

$$x' = x$$
,  $y' = h\left(\frac{y-\eta}{h+\eta}\right)$ ,  $t' = t$ ,

from which we define

$$u(x',y',t') := \varphi\left(x',\left(\frac{h+\eta}{h}\right)y'+\eta,t'\right).$$

It is not difficult to show (93) that derivatives change as

$$M(x,t)\partial_x = M(x',t')\partial_{x'} + N(x',y',t')\partial_{y'},$$
$$M(x,t)\partial_t = M(x',t')\partial_{t'} + P(x',y',t')\partial_{y'},$$
$$M(x,t)\partial_y = h\partial_{y'},$$

where

$$M(x,t) = h + \eta(x,t),$$
  

$$N(x,y,t) = -(\partial_x \eta(x,t))(y+h),$$
  

$$P(x,y,t) = -(\partial_t \eta(x,t))(y+h).$$

The governing equations (Equation 1.1.1) transform, upon dropping the primes, to

$$\Delta u = F, \qquad \qquad -h < y < 0, \qquad (1.2.1a)$$

$$\partial_y u = 0, \qquad \qquad y = -h, \qquad (1.2.1b)$$

$$\partial_t \eta = \partial_y u + 2\mu \partial_x^2 \eta + Q,$$
  $y = 0,$  (1.2.1c)

$$\partial_t u = -g\eta + \sigma \partial_x^2 \eta - 2\mu \partial_y^2 u + R, \qquad \qquad y = 0, \qquad (1.2.1d)$$

$$u(x,0,0) = \xi^{(0)}(x), \tag{1.2.1e}$$

$$\eta(x,0) = \eta^{(0)}(x). \tag{1.2.1f}$$

The form for F can be shown (93) to be

$$h^{2}F = -\operatorname{div}\left[A^{(1)}(\eta)\nabla u\right] - \operatorname{div}\left[A^{(2)}(\eta)\nabla u\right] + (\partial_{x}\eta)B^{(0)}\cdot\nabla u + (\partial_{x}\eta)B^{(1)}(\eta)\cdot\nabla u$$

where

$$\begin{aligned} A^{(1)}(\eta) &= \begin{pmatrix} A^{(1),xx} & A^{(1),xy} \\ A^{(1),yx} & A^{(1),yy} \end{pmatrix} := \begin{pmatrix} 2h\eta & -h(y+h)\partial_x\eta \\ -h(y+h)\partial_x\eta & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \\ A^{(2)}(\eta) &= \begin{pmatrix} A^{(2),xx} & A^{(2),xy} \\ A^{(2),yx} & A^{(2),yy} \end{pmatrix} := \begin{pmatrix} \eta^2 & -(y+h)\eta(\partial_x\eta) \\ -(y+h)\eta(\partial_x\eta) & (y+h)^2(\partial_x\eta)^2 \end{pmatrix}, \\ B^{(0)} &= \begin{pmatrix} B^{(0),x} \\ B^{(0),y} \end{pmatrix} := \begin{pmatrix} h \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad B^{(1)}(\eta) = \begin{pmatrix} B^{(1),x} \\ B^{(1),y} \end{pmatrix} := \begin{pmatrix} \eta \\ -(y+h)\partial_x\eta \end{pmatrix}. \end{aligned}$$

Therefore,

$$\begin{split} h^{2}F &= -\partial_{x}\left[2h\eta\partial_{x}u\right] + \partial_{x}\left[h(y+h)(\partial_{x}\eta)\partial_{y}u\right] + \partial_{y}\left[h(y+h)(\partial_{x}\eta)\partial_{x}u\right] \\ &- \partial_{x}\left[\eta^{2}\partial_{x}u\right] + \partial_{x}\left[(y+h)\eta(\partial_{x}\eta)\partial_{y}u\right] + \partial_{y}\left[(y+h)\eta(\partial_{x}\eta)\partial_{x}u\right] \\ &- \partial_{y}\left[(y+h)^{2}(\partial_{x}\eta)^{2}\partial_{y}u\right] + h(\partial_{x}\eta)\partial_{x}u + \eta(\partial_{x}\eta)\partial_{x}u - (y+h)(\partial_{x}\eta)^{2}\partial_{y}u. \end{split}$$

Furthermore, multiplying (Equation 1.1.1c) by M and evaluating at y = 0, we find

$$hQ = -\eta(\partial_t \eta) + 2\mu\eta(\partial_x^2 \eta) - h(\partial_x \eta)\partial_x u - \eta(\partial_x \eta)\partial_x u + h(\partial_x \eta)^2 \partial_y u,$$

where we have used the fact that, since  $\eta$  is independent of y, we have

$$\partial_t \eta = \partial_{t'} \eta, \quad \partial_x \eta = \partial_{x'} \eta.$$

Finally, multiplying (Equation 1.1.1d) by  $M^2$  and evaluating at y = 0, we discover

$$\begin{split} h^2 R &= -2h\eta \partial_t u - \eta^2 \partial_t u + h^2 (\partial_t \eta) \partial_y u + h\eta (\partial_t \eta) \partial_y u - 2gh\eta^2 - g\eta^3 \\ &+ 2\sigma h\eta (\partial_x^2 \eta) + \sigma \eta^2 (\partial_x^2 \eta) \\ &+ \sigma h^2 \partial_x \left[ (\partial_x \eta) H(\partial_x \eta) \right] + 2\sigma h\eta \partial_x \left[ (\partial_x \eta) H(\partial_x \eta) \right] + \sigma \eta^2 \partial_x \left[ (\partial_x \eta) H(\partial_x \eta) \right] \\ &- \frac{1}{2} \left\{ h^2 (\partial_x u)^2 + 2h\eta (\partial_x u)^2 + \eta^2 (\partial_x u)^2 - 2h^2 (\partial_x \eta) (\partial_x u) \partial_y u \right. \\ &- 2h\eta (\partial_x \eta) (\partial_x u) \partial_y u + h^2 (\partial_x \eta)^2 (\partial_y u)^2 \right\} - \frac{1}{2} h^2 (\partial_y u)^2. \end{split}$$

# 1.2.1 A Boundary Perturbation Expansion

Our procedure for establishing well–posedness is to seek solutions of the form

$$\eta = \eta(x,t;\varepsilon) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \eta_n(x,t)\varepsilon^n, \quad u = u(x,y,t;\varepsilon) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} u_n(x,y,t)\varepsilon^n, \quad (1.2.2)$$

given initial data  $\{\eta^{(0)}(x), \xi^{(0)}(x)\}$ . We will show that if this data lies in appropriate Sobolev spaces, then the  $\{\eta_n, \varphi_n\}$  also exist in (different) Sobolev classes satisfying estimates which

justify the strong convergence of the series (Equation 1.2.2). Upon insertion of these into (Equation 1.2.1) we find that, at each perturbation order,

$$\Delta u_n = F_n, \qquad \qquad -h < y < 0, \qquad (1.2.3a)$$

$$\partial_y u_n = 0, \qquad \qquad y = -h, \qquad (1.2.3b)$$

$$\partial_t \eta_n = \partial_y u_n + 2\mu \partial_x^2 \eta_n + Q_n, \qquad \qquad y = 0, \qquad (1.2.3c)$$

$$\partial_t u_n = -g\eta_n + \sigma \partial_x^2 \eta_n - 2\mu \partial_y^2 u_n + R_n, \qquad y = 0.$$
(1.2.3d)

$$u_n(x,0,0) = \delta_{n,0}\xi^{(0)}(x), \qquad (1.2.3e)$$

$$\eta_n(x,0) = \delta_{n,0} \eta^{(0)}(x), \tag{1.2.3f}$$

where  $\delta_{n,k}$  is the Kronecker delta function. In these  $F_n$ ,  $Q_n$ , and  $R_n$  can be shown, using the notation  $\llbracket \cdot \rrbracket_n$  from Appendix B, to be

$$h^{2}F_{n} = -\partial_{x} \left[2h \left[\!\left[\eta\partial_{x}u\right]\!\right]_{n}\right] + \partial_{x} \left[h(y+h) \left[\!\left[(\partial_{x}\eta)\partial_{y}u\right]\!\right]_{n}\right] + \partial_{y} \left[h(y+h) \left[\!\left[(\partial_{x}\eta)\partial_{x}u\right]\!\right]_{n}\right] - \partial_{x} \left[\left[\!\left[\eta^{2}\partial_{x}u\right]\!\right]_{n}\right] + \partial_{x} \left[(y+h) \left[\!\left[\eta(\partial_{x}\eta)\partial_{y}u\right]\!\right]_{n}\right] + \partial_{y} \left[(y+h) \left[\!\left[\eta(\partial_{x}\eta)\partial_{x}u\right]\!\right]_{n}\right] - \partial_{y} \left[(y+h)^{2} \left[\!\left[(\partial_{x}\eta)^{2}\partial_{y}u\right]\!\right]_{n}\right] + h \left[\!\left[(\partial_{x}\eta)\partial_{x}u\right]\!\right]_{n} + \left[\!\left[\eta(\partial_{x}\eta)\partial_{x}u\right]\!\right]_{n} - (y+h) \left[\!\left[(\partial_{x}\eta)^{2}\partial_{y}u\right]\!\right]_{n}, \qquad (1.2.4a)$$

$$hQ_n = -\left[\!\left[\eta(\partial_t \eta)\right]\!\right]_n + 2\mu \left[\!\left[\eta(\partial_x^2 \eta)\right]\!\right]_n - h\left[\!\left[(\partial_x \eta)\partial_x u\right]\!\right]_n - \left[\!\left[\eta(\partial_x \eta)\partial_x u\right]\!\right]_n + h\left[\!\left[(\partial_x \eta)^2 \partial_y u\right]\!\right]_n, (1.2.4b)$$

and

$$h^{2}R_{n} = -2h \left[\!\left[\eta\partial_{t}u\right]\!\right]_{n} - \left[\!\left[\eta^{2}\partial_{t}u\right]\!\right]_{n} + h^{2} \left[\!\left[(\partial_{t}\eta)\partial_{y}u\right]\!\right]_{n} + h \left[\!\left[\eta(\partial_{t}\eta)\partial_{y}u\right]\!\right]_{n} \\ - 2gh \left[\!\left[\eta^{2}\right]\!\right]_{n} - g \left[\!\left[\eta^{3}\right]\!\right]_{n} + 2\sigma h \left[\!\left[\eta(\partial_{x}^{2}\eta)\right]\!\right]_{n} + \sigma \left[\!\left[\eta^{2}(\partial_{x}^{2}\eta)\right]\!\right]_{n} \\ + \sigma h^{2} \left[\!\left[\partial_{x}\left[(\partial_{x}\eta)H(\partial_{x}\eta)\right]\!\right]_{n} + 2\sigma h \left[\!\left[\eta\partial_{x}\left[(\partial_{x}\eta)H(\partial_{x}\eta)\right]\!\right]_{n} + \sigma \left[\!\left[\eta^{2}\partial_{x}\left[(\partial_{x}\eta)H(\partial_{x}\eta)\right]\!\right]\!\right]_{n} \\ - \frac{1}{2} \left\{h^{2} \left[\!\left[(\partial_{x}u)^{2}\right]\!\right]_{n} + 2h \left[\!\left[\eta(\partial_{x}u)^{2}\right]\!\right]_{n} + \left[\!\left[\eta^{2}(\partial_{x}u)^{2}\right]\!\right]_{n} - 2h^{2} \left[\!\left[(\partial_{x}\eta)(\partial_{x}u)\partial_{y}u\right]\!\right]_{n} \\ - 2h \left[\!\left[\eta(\partial_{x}\eta)(\partial_{x}u)\partial_{y}u\right]\!\right]_{n} + h^{2} \left[\!\left[(\partial_{x}\eta)^{2}(\partial_{y}u)^{2}\right]\!\right]_{n} \right\} - \frac{1}{2}h^{2} \left[\!\left[(\partial_{y}u)^{2}\right]\!\right]_{n}.$$
(1.2.4c)

**Remark 1.2.1.** For the expansion of H we recall that

$$H(\psi) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{1+\psi^2}} - 1,$$

which, upon squaring, can be written as

$$(H^2 + 2H + 1)(1 + \psi^2) = 1,$$

or

$$H = -\frac{1}{2} \left\{ \psi^2 + H^2 + 2\psi^2 H + \psi^2 H^2 \right\}.$$
 (1.2.5)

If we make the expansion, c.f. (Equation 1.2.2),

$$\psi = \psi(x,t;\varepsilon) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \psi_n(x,t)\varepsilon^n,$$

then it is easy to see that

$$H = H(x,t;\varepsilon) = \sum_{n=2}^{\infty} H_n \varepsilon^n.$$

In fact, from (Equation 1.2.5) we have

$$H_{n} = -\frac{1}{2} \left\{ \left[ \psi^{2} \right]_{n} + \left[ H^{2} \right]_{n} + 2 \left[ \psi^{2} H \right]_{n} + \left[ \psi^{2} H^{2} \right]_{n} \right\}, \qquad (1.2.6)$$

and it is clear that  $H_n$  depends only on  $\{\psi_1, \ldots, \psi_{n-1}\} = \{\partial_x \eta_1, \ldots, \partial_x \eta_{n-1}\}.$ 

## CHAPTER 2

## WELL-POSEDNESS

(Previously published as Ngom, M. and Nicholls, D. P.: Well-posedness and analyticity of solutions to a water wave problem with viscosity. J. Differential Equations, 265:5031-5075, 2018.)

### 2.1 Introduction

In this chapter, we present our well-posedness theorem for the above system of equations. Before proceeding, we point out that our method of proof is rather different from the standard techniques, e.g., described in (57; 8). Rather than seeking a fixed point of a contraction mapping, we follow the approach of Friedman and Reitich to free boundary problems, more specifically in the contexts of the classical Stefan problem (39) and the capillary drop problem (42). Friedman and Reitich's method is perturbative in nature, expanding the solution in a Taylor series in a parameter which characterizes the deformation of the free interface from a simple, separable geometry. Their proof uses, very strongly, the unique solvability of the governing equations on a *fixed, trivial* domain (using separation of variables) to show that higher order corrections satisfy appropriate bounds which demonstrate the strong convergence of the Taylor series for the solution. The difficulties here are certain algebra properties of the relevant function spaces and trace lemmas; these are different in the current context, but we show that their demonstrations can be extended.

Additionally, we point out that due to the nature of the function spaces we introduce, the conclusion of our theorem is not only the well–posedness of our model of viscous water waves, but also the very strong stability of our solutions. Our function spaces demand *exponential* decay in time with the rate determined by the value of the viscosity. Thus, not only do unique solutions exist, they persist globally in time and decay exponentially fast to zero.

The rest of this chapter is organized as follows. In § 2.2 we introduce the function spaces we require to establish our well-posedness result, together with crucial lemmas on algebra properties of functions in these spaces, and trace estimates on the same. In § 2.3 and 2.4 we state and prove fundamental estimates on the elliptic and parabolic problems which arise in the linearization of our governing equations about the trivial configuration which we analyze in § 2.5. In § 2.6 we state and prove an inductive lemma which enables the proof of our central well-posedness result which is established in § 2.7. We make concluding remarks in § 2.8. We collect the proofs of the trace lemma in § A and a lemma on products of analytic functions in § B.

#### 2.2 Function Spaces

Following Friedman and Reitich (39; 42) we define, for the function g = g(t), the norm

$$[g]_t^2 := \int_0^t e^{2\alpha u} |g(u)|^2 \, du,$$

for some  $\alpha > 0$ , and recall, for the function f = f(x), the classical Sobolev norm (54; 2; 32), for real  $s \ge 0$ ,

$$\|f\|_{H^s([0,2\pi])}^2 := \sum_{p=-\infty}^{\infty} \langle p \rangle^{2s} \left| \hat{f}_p \right|^2, \quad \langle p \rangle^2 := 1 + |p|^2, \quad \hat{f}_p := \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_0^{2\pi} f(x) e^{-ipx} \, dx$$

With these, for the function U = U(x, t), we define, for real  $s \ge 4$ ,

$$\begin{split} \|U\|_{X^{s}}^{2} &:= \left[\|U\|_{H^{s}([0,2\pi])}^{2}\right]_{\infty}^{2} + \left[\|\partial_{t}U\|_{H^{s-2}([0,2\pi])}^{2}\right]_{\infty}^{2} + \left[\left\|\partial_{t}^{2}U\right\|_{H^{s-4}([0,2\pi])}^{2}\right]_{\infty}^{2} \\ &= \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{2\alpha u} \sum_{p=-\infty}^{\infty} \langle p \rangle^{2s} \left|\hat{U}_{p}(u)\right|^{2} \, du + \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{2\alpha u} \sum_{p=-\infty}^{\infty} \langle p \rangle^{2(s-2)} \left|\partial_{t}\hat{U}_{p}(u)\right|^{2} \, du \\ &+ \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{2\alpha u} \sum_{p=-\infty}^{\infty} \langle p \rangle^{2(s-4)} \left|\partial_{t}^{2}\hat{U}_{p}(u)\right|^{2} \, du, \end{split}$$

where the second time derivative is required for the algebra property (Lemma 2.2.1 below) to be valid, c.f. (39; 42).

In addition, in the next section we require volumetric norms. For the function v = v(x, y), the classical Sobolev norm is (54; 2; 32), for integer  $s \ge 0$ ,

$$\|v\|_{H^{s}([0,2\pi]\times[-h,0])}^{2} := \sum_{\ell=0}^{s} \sum_{p=-\infty}^{\infty} \langle p \rangle^{2(s-\ell)} \int_{-h}^{0} \left| \partial_{y}^{\ell} \hat{v}_{p}(y) \right|^{2} dy.$$

Finally, for the function w = w(x, y, t), we define the following norm for integer  $s \ge 4$ ,

$$\begin{split} \|\|w\|\|_{V^{s}}^{2} &:= \left[\|w\|_{H^{s}([0,2\pi]\times[-h,0])}\right]_{\infty}^{2} + \left[\|\partial_{t}w\|_{H^{s-2}([0,2\pi]\times[-h,0])}\right]_{\infty}^{2} \\ &+ \left[\|\partial_{t}^{2}w\|_{H^{s-4}([0,2\pi]\times[-h,0])}\right]_{\infty}^{2} \\ &= \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{2\alpha u} \sum_{\ell=0}^{s} \sum_{p=-\infty}^{\infty} \langle p \rangle^{2(s-\ell)} \int_{-h}^{0} \left|\partial_{y}^{\ell}\hat{w}_{p}(y,u)\right|^{2} dy du \\ &+ \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{2\alpha u} \sum_{\ell=0}^{s-2} \sum_{p=-\infty}^{\infty} \langle p \rangle^{2(s-2-\ell)} \int_{-h}^{0} \left|\partial_{y}^{\ell}\partial_{t}\hat{w}_{p}(y,u)\right|^{2} dy du \\ &+ \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{2\alpha u} \sum_{\ell=0}^{s-4} \sum_{p=-\infty}^{\infty} \langle p \rangle^{2(s-4-\ell)} \int_{-h}^{0} \left|\partial_{y}^{\ell}\partial_{t}^{2}\hat{w}_{p}(y,u)\right|^{2} dy du. \end{split}$$

With these norms we define the function spaces, for real  $s \ge 0$ ,

$$H^{s}([0,2\pi]) := \Big\{ f(x) \in L^{2}([0,2\pi]) \ \Big| \ \int_{0}^{2\pi} f(x) \ dx = 0, \|f\|_{H^{s}([0,2\pi])} < \infty \Big\},$$

and, for real  $s \ge 4$ ,

$$X^{s}([0,2\pi]\times[0,\infty)) := \Big\{ U(x,t) \in L^{2}([0,2\pi]\times[0,\infty)) \ \Big| \ \int_{0}^{2\pi} U(x,t) \ dx = 0, \|U\|_{X^{s}} < \infty \Big\},$$

and, for integer  $s \ge 0$ ,

$$H^{s}([0,2\pi] \times [-h,0]) := \Big\{ v(x,y) \in L^{2}([0,2\pi] \times [-h,0]) \ \Big| \ \|v\|_{H^{s}([0,2\pi] \times [-h,0])} < \infty \Big\},$$

and, for integer  $s \ge 4$ ,

$$V^{s}([0,2\pi] \times [-h,0] \times [0,\infty)) := \Big\{ w(x,y,t) \in L^{2}([0,2\pi] \times [-h,0] \times [0,\infty)) \ \Big| \ |||w|||_{V^{s}} < \infty \Big\}.$$

From this point we suppress the domain dependence unless there is danger of confusion.

Of fundamental importance to our proof are the following algebra properties which are straightforward generalizations of Friedman and Reitich's Theorem A.4 in (39).

**Lemma 2.2.1.** If  $s \ge 4$ ;  $f, g \in X^s$ ;  $v, w \in V^s$ ; then there is a constant M > 0 such that

$$\|fg\|_{X^s} \le M \,\|f\|_{X^s} \,\|g\|_{X^s} \,, \tag{2.2.1a}$$

$$|||fv|||_{V^s} \le M \,||f||_{X^s} \,|||v|||_{V^s} \,, \tag{2.2.1b}$$

$$|||vw|||_{V^s} \le M \, |||v|||_{V^s} \, |||w|||_{V^s} \,. \tag{2.2.1c}$$

**Remark 2.2.2.** While the lemma above is true for any real  $s \ge 4$  by interpolation (39), we will only utilize (Equation 2.2.1b) and (Equation 2.2.1c) for integer s, and (Equation 2.2.1a) for integer s or s = m + 1/2 for m integer.

In addition, we require a temporal trace theorem due to Friedman and Reitich (39) (for the proof, see Appendix A) suitably modified to our space  $X^s$ .

**Lemma 2.2.3.** If  $s \ge 4$  and  $\sigma(x,t) \in X^s$  then there exists a constant  $C_t > 0$  such that

$$\max\left\{ \|\sigma(x,0)\|_{H^{s-1}}, \|\partial_t \sigma(x,0)\|_{H^{s-3}} \right\} \le C_t \|\sigma\|_{X^s}.$$
(2.2.2)

Finally, we recall two auxiliary lemmas from (81).

**Lemma 2.2.4.** If  $s \ge 4$  and  $w \in V^s$  then there exists a constant Y = Y(s) such that

$$|||(y+h)w|||_{V^s} < Y |||w|||_{V^s}.$$

**Lemma 2.2.5.** There exists a universal constant  $\Sigma > 0$  such that

$$\max\left\{\sum_{m=0}^{N} \frac{(N+1)^2}{(N-m+1)^2(m+1)^2}, \\ \sum_{m=0}^{N} \sum_{\ell=0}^{m} \frac{(N+1)^2}{(N-m+1)^2(m-\ell+1)^2(\ell+1)^2}, \\ \sum_{m=0}^{N} \sum_{\ell=0}^{m} \sum_{q=0}^{\ell} \frac{(N+1)^2}{(N-m+1)^2(m-\ell+1)^2(\ell-q+1)^2(q+1)^2}\right\} < \Sigma.$$

### 2.3 A Fundamental Lemma for the Elliptic Problem

To prove our well–posedness result, Theorem 2.7.1, we must establish the following elliptic estimate which generalizes the results found in (79) to the spaces  $V^s$  and  $X^s$ .

**Theorem 2.3.1.** Given an integer  $s \ge 4$ , if  $F \in V^{s+1}$  and  $\psi \in X^{s+5/2}$ , then there exists a unique solution of

$$\Delta w = F, \qquad \qquad -h < y < 0, \qquad (2.3.1a)$$

$$w(x,0,t) = \psi(x,t),$$
 (2.3.1b)

$$\partial_y w(x, -h, t) = 0, \tag{2.3.1c}$$

in  $V^{s+3}$  satisfying

$$\max\left\{\left\|w(x,0,t)\right\|_{X^{s+5/2}}, \left\|w\right\|_{V^{s+3}}\right\} \le K_e\left\{\left\|F\right\|_{V^{s+1}} + \left\|\psi\right\|_{X^{s+5/2}}\right\},\tag{2.3.2}$$

where  $K_e > 0$  is a universal constant.

*Proof.* In a recent publication a similar result for the Helmholtz equation was shown and we follow those developments here. To begin, we use the lateral periodicity of the solution to express

$$\{w(x, y, t), F(x, y, t), \psi(x, t)\} = \sum_{p=-\infty}^{\infty} \left\{ \hat{w}_p(y, t), \hat{F}_p(y, t), \hat{\psi}_p(t) \right\} e^{ipx},$$

and note that (Equation 2.3.1) then demands that

$$\partial_y^2 \hat{w}_p - |p|^2 \hat{w}_p = \hat{F}_p, \qquad -h < y < 0, \qquad (2.3.3a)$$

$$\hat{w}_p(0,t) = \hat{\psi}_p(t),$$
 (2.3.3b)

$$\partial_y \hat{w}_p(-h,t) = 0. \tag{2.3.3c}$$

**Existence and Uniqueness:** To show the existence and uniqueness of a solution we appeal to the classical results of Keller (52), later extended in the "Integrated Solution Method" of

Zhang (107; 108) (see also (21)). Using the notation of (21) we consider, after a trivial change of variables  $y \to y + h$ , the problem

$$\begin{aligned} & {\bf u}'(y) + {\bf M}(y) {\bf u}(y) = {\bf f}(y), & 0 < y < h, \\ & {\bf A}_0 {\bf u} = {\bf r}_0, & y = 0, \\ & {\bf B}_1 {\bf u} = {\bf s}_1, & y = h, \end{aligned}$$

where

$$\mathbf{f}(y) \in \mathbf{C}^m, \quad \mathbf{r}_0 \in \mathbf{C}^{m_1}, \quad \mathbf{s}_1 \in \mathbf{C}^{m_2},$$

are vector fields  $(m = m_1 + m_2)$ . Further,

$$\mathbf{M}(y) \in \mathbf{C}^{m \times m}, \quad \mathbf{A}_0 \in \mathbf{C}^{m_1 \times m}, \quad \mathbf{B}_1 \in \mathbf{C}^{m_2 \times m},$$

are full rank matrices. Let  $\mathbf{\Phi}(y)$  be the fundamental matrix solution of the system

$$\mathbf{\Phi}'(y) + \mathbf{M}(y)\mathbf{\Phi}(y) = 0, \quad \mathbf{\Phi}(0) = I_m,$$

where  $I_m$  is the  $m \times m$  identity matrix. Keller shows (52) that the two-point value problem above has a unique solution if and only if

$$\det \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{A}_0 \\ \mathbf{B}_1 \mathbf{\Phi}(h) \end{pmatrix} \neq 0.$$

$$\mathbf{u} = \begin{pmatrix} \hat{w}_p \\ \partial_y \hat{w}_p \end{pmatrix}, \quad \mathbf{M}(y) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -1 \\ -|p|^2 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \mathbf{f}(y) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ \hat{F}_p \end{pmatrix},$$
$$\mathbf{A}_0 = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \mathbf{B}_1 = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \mathbf{r}_0 = 0, \quad \mathbf{s}_1 = \hat{\psi}_p.$$

There are two cases of p to consider.

1. The case p = 0: Here we may show that

$$\Phi(y) = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & y \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix},$$

and

$$\det \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{A}_0 \\ \mathbf{B}_1 \mathbf{\Phi}(h) \end{pmatrix} = \det \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 1 & h \end{pmatrix} = -1 \neq 0.$$

Thus, a unique solution exists in this case.

2. The case  $p \neq 0$ : Here one can see that

$$\boldsymbol{\Phi}(\boldsymbol{y}) = \begin{pmatrix} \cosh(|\boldsymbol{p}|\,\boldsymbol{y}) & \sinh(|\boldsymbol{p}|\,\boldsymbol{y})/\,|\boldsymbol{p}| \\ \\ |\boldsymbol{p}|\sinh(|\boldsymbol{p}|\,\boldsymbol{y}) & \cosh(|\boldsymbol{p}|\,\boldsymbol{y}) \end{pmatrix},$$

and

$$\det \begin{pmatrix} \mathbf{A}_0 \\ \mathbf{B}_1 \mathbf{\Phi}(h) \end{pmatrix} = \det \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ \cosh(|p|h) & \sinh(|p|h)/|p| \end{pmatrix} = -\cosh(|p|h) \neq 0.$$

Again, a unique solution exists in this case.

We note that existence and uniqueness of solutions can also be verified by simply (but less elegantly) writing down the exact solution as in (79).

**Estimates:** In order to accommodate Sobolev spaces with very low smoothness, we consider the slightly generalized form of (Equation 2.3.1)

$$\Delta w = \partial_x F^{(1)} + \partial_y F^{(2)} + F^{(3)}, \qquad -h < y < 0,$$
$$w(x, 0, t) = \psi(x, t),$$
$$\partial_y w(x, -h, t) = 0,$$

which, upon Fourier transform, becomes

$$\begin{aligned} \partial_y^2 \hat{w}_p &- |p|^2 \, \hat{w}_p = (ip) \hat{F}_p^{(1)} + \partial_y \hat{F}_p^{(2)} + \hat{F}_p^{(3)}, & -h < y < 0, \\ \\ \hat{w}_p(0,t) &= \hat{\psi}_p(t), \\ \\ \partial_y \hat{w}_p(-h,t) &= 0. \end{aligned}$$

Following the developments of (79), we set

$$\hat{w}_p(y,t) = \hat{w}_p^{(0)}(y,t) + \hat{w}_p^{(1)}(y,t) + \hat{w}_p^{(2)}(y,t) + \hat{w}_p^{(3)}(y,t),$$

where, for j = 0, 1, 2, 3,

$$\partial_y^2 \hat{w}_p^{(j)} - |p|^2 \, \hat{w}_p^{(j)} = \delta_{j,1}(ip) \hat{F}_p^{(1)} + \delta_{j,2} \partial_y \hat{F}_p^{(2)} + \delta_{j,3} \hat{F}_p^{(3)}, \qquad -h < y < 0, \qquad (2.3.4a)$$

$$\hat{w}_{p}^{(j)}(0,t) = \delta_{j,0}\hat{\psi}_{p}(t),$$
(2.3.4b)

$$\partial_y \hat{w}_p^{(j)}(-h,t) = 0.$$
 (2.3.4c)

It can be shown (see Lemma A.2 of (75)) from the solution formula for  $\hat{w}_p(y,t)$ , that the following volumetric estimates hold for the unique solution when  $\ell = 0, 1$ ,

$$\left\|\partial_{y}^{\ell}\hat{w}_{p}^{(0)}(y,t)\right\|_{L^{2}(dy)}^{2} \leq K_{e}\langle p\rangle^{-1+2\ell} \left|\hat{\psi}_{p}(t)\right|^{2}, \qquad (2.3.5a)$$

$$\left\|\partial_{y}^{\ell}\hat{w}_{p}^{(1)}(y,t)\right\|_{L^{2}(dy)}^{2} \leq K_{e}\langle p\rangle^{-2+2\ell} \left\|\hat{F}_{p}^{(1)}(y,t)\right\|_{L^{2}(dy)}^{2},$$
(2.3.5b)

$$\left\|\partial_{y}^{\ell}\hat{w}_{p}^{(2)}(y,t)\right\|_{L^{2}(dy)}^{2} \leq K_{e}\langle p\rangle^{-2+2\ell} \left\|\hat{F}_{p}^{(2)}(y,t)\right\|_{L^{2}(dy)}^{2},$$
(2.3.5c)

$$\left\|\partial_{y}^{\ell}\hat{w}_{p}^{(3)}(y,t)\right\|_{L^{2}(dy)}^{2} \leq K_{e}\langle p\rangle^{-4+2\ell} \left\|\hat{F}_{p}^{(3)}(y,t)\right\|_{L^{2}(dy)}^{2},$$
(2.3.5d)

for some  $K_e > 0$ . In addition, the subsequent boundary estimates hold for  $\ell = 0, 1$ 

$$\left|\partial_y^{\ell} \hat{w}_p^{(0)}(0,t)\right|^2 \le K_e \langle p \rangle^{2\ell} \left| \hat{\psi}_p(t) \right|^2, \qquad (2.3.6a)$$

$$\partial_{y}^{\ell} \hat{w}_{p}^{(1)}(0,t) \Big|^{2} \leq K_{e} \langle p \rangle^{-1+2\ell} \left\| \hat{F}_{p}^{(1)}(y,t) \right\|_{L^{2}(dy)}^{2}, \qquad (2.3.6b)$$

$$\left|\partial_{y}^{\ell} \hat{w}_{p}^{(2)}(0,t)\right|^{2} \leq K_{e} \langle p \rangle^{-1+2\ell} \left\|\hat{F}_{p}^{(2)}(y,t)\right\|_{L^{2}(dy)}^{2}, \qquad (2.3.6c)$$

$$\left|\partial_{y}^{\ell}\hat{w}_{p}^{(3)}(0,t)\right|^{2} \leq K_{e}\langle p\rangle^{-3+2\ell} \left\|\hat{F}_{p}^{(3)}(y,t)\right\|_{L^{2}(dy)}^{2},$$
(2.3.6d)

with  $K_e > 0$  sufficiently large. Furthermore, as the governing equations (Equation 2.3.4) treat time as a parameter, by simply applying time derivatives one can achieve the same estimates with  $\{\hat{w}_p^{(j)}, \hat{F}_p^{(j)}, \hat{\psi}_p\}$  replaced by  $\{\partial_t \hat{w}_p^{(j)}, \partial_t \hat{F}_p^{(j)}, \partial_t \hat{\psi}_p\}$ , and  $\{\partial_t^2 \hat{w}_p^{(j)}, \partial_t^2 \hat{F}_p^{(j)}, \partial_t^2 \hat{\psi}_p\}$ .

Consider the  $H^1$ –type norm of w

$$\left[ \|w\|_{H^1}^2 \right]_{\infty}^2 = \int_0^\infty e^{2\alpha u} \sum_{\ell=0}^1 \sum_{p=-\infty}^\infty \langle p \rangle^{2(1-\ell)} \left\| \partial_y^\ell \hat{w}_p(y,u) \right\|_{L^2(dy)}^2 \, du,$$

and the  $H^{-1}$  analogue for F

$$\left[ \left\| F \right\|_{H^{-1}}^2 \right]_{\infty}^2 = \int_0^\infty e^{2\alpha u} \sum_{p=-\infty}^\infty \sum_{j=1}^3 \left\| \hat{F}_p^{(j)}(y,u) \right\|_{L^2(dy)}^2 du, \quad F = \partial_x F^{(1)} + \partial_y F^{(2)} + F^{(3)},$$

for some  $F^{(j)} \in L^2([-h, 0])$  (see Chapter 5 of Evans (32)). Using the estimates above (and being a little wasteful in our estimate of  $F^{(3)}$ ) we have

$$\begin{split} \left[ \|w\|_{H^{1}}^{2} \right]_{\infty}^{2} &\leq \sum_{j=0}^{3} \left[ \left\| w^{(j)} \right\|_{H^{1}}^{2} \right]_{\infty}^{2} \\ &\leq \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{2\alpha u} \sum_{\ell=0}^{1} \sum_{p=-\infty}^{\infty} \langle p \rangle^{2(1-\ell)} K_{e} \left\{ \langle p \rangle^{-1+2\ell} \left| \hat{\psi}_{p}(u) \right|^{2} \right. \\ &\left. + \sum_{j=1}^{3} \langle p \rangle^{-2+2\ell} \left\| \hat{F}_{p}^{(j)}(y,u) \right\|_{L^{2}(dy)}^{2} \right\} \, du. \end{split}$$

Rearranging this we find

$$\begin{split} \left[ \|w\|_{H^{1}}^{2} \right]_{\infty}^{2} &\leq K_{e} \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{2\alpha u} \sum_{p=-\infty}^{\infty} \langle p \rangle^{1} \left| \hat{\psi}_{p}(u) \right|^{2} \, du \\ &+ K_{e} \int_{0}^{\infty} e^{2\alpha u} \sum_{p=-\infty}^{\infty} \sum_{j=1}^{3} \left\| \hat{F}_{p}^{(j)}(y,u) \right\|_{L^{2}(dy)}^{2} \, du \\ &\leq K_{e} \left\{ \|\psi\|_{H^{1/2}}^{2} + \|F\|_{H^{-1}}^{2} \right\}. \end{split}$$

Either by conducting the tedious manipulations to produce the higher-order analogues of (Equation 2.3.5) and (Equation 2.3.6), or by proceeding as in Chapter 6 of Evans (32), we can deduce

$$\left[\|w\|_{H^{s+3}}^2\right]_{\infty}^2 \le CK_e \left\{ \left[\|F\|_{H^{s+1}}^2\right]_{\infty}^2 + \left[\|\psi\|_{H^{s+5/2}}^2\right]_{\infty}^2 \right\}.$$

Applying this estimate to  $\partial_t w$  and  $\partial_t^2 w$ , and recalling that  $s \ge 4$ , we discover

$$\left[ \|\partial_t w\|_{H^{s+1}}^2 \right]_{\infty}^2 \le CK_e \left\{ \left[ \|\partial_t F\|_{H^{s-1}}^2 \right]_{\infty}^2 + \left[ \|\partial_t \psi\|_{H^{s+1/2}}^2 \right]_{\infty}^2 \right\},\$$
and

$$\left[ \left\| \partial_t^2 w \right\|_{H^{s-1}}^2 \right]_{\infty}^2 \le C K_e \left\{ \left[ \left\| \partial_t^2 F \right\|_{H^{s-3}}^2 \right]_{\infty}^2 + \left[ \left\| \partial_t^2 \psi \right\|_{H^{s-1/2}}^2 \right]_{\infty}^2 \right\},\$$

which, upon summation, delivers the conclusion of the theorem.

#### 2.4 A Fundamental Lemma for the Parabolic Problem

To state our next result we recall the definition of an order-k Fourier multiplier.

**Definition 2.4.1.** Suppose that  $\psi \in L^2([0, 2\pi])$  then the equation

$$m(D)\psi(x) := \sum_{p=-\infty}^{\infty} m(p)\hat{\psi}_p e^{ipx},$$

defines the Fourier multiplier m(D). If, for some  $k \in \mathbf{R}$ , we have for any s real

$$||m(D)\psi||_{H^s} \le C ||\psi||_{H^{s+k}},$$

then we say that m(D) is order-k.

**Remark 2.4.2.** The classical derivative,  $\partial_x$ , is clearly an order-one Fourier multiplier with symbol (iD). Of relevance to the current contribution are the order-one multiplier

$$G_0 := |D| \tanh(h |D|),$$

which is the flat–interface DNO for Laplace's equation on a strip (29; 28; 64), the order–three– halves  $(i\omega_D)$  operator

$$(i\omega_D)\psi(x) = \sum_{p=-\infty}^{\infty} (i\omega_p)\hat{\psi}_p e^{i\alpha_p x} := \sum_{p=-\infty}^{\infty} i\sqrt{(g+\sigma|p|^2)} \left|\hat{G}_{0,p}\right|\hat{\psi}_p e^{i\alpha_p x},$$

which comes from the dispersion relation for water waves (55; 99; 1), and the order–two operator  $(-|D|^2) = \partial_x^2.$ 

We require the following parabolic estimate for our inductive proof to proceed.

**Theorem 2.4.3.** Given a real number  $s \ge 4$ , if  $Q \in X^{s+1}$ ,  $R \in X^{s+1/2}$ ,  $\eta^{(0)} \in H^{s+2}$ , and  $\xi^{(0)} \in H^{s+3/2}$  then there exists a unique solution of

$$\partial_t \eta = G_0[\xi] + 2\mu \partial_x^2 \eta + Q,$$
  $\eta(x,0) = \eta^{(0)}(x),$  (2.4.1a)

$$\partial_t \xi = -g\eta + \sigma \partial_x^2 \eta - 2\mu |D|^2 \xi + R, \qquad \xi(x,0) = \xi^{(0)}(x), \qquad (2.4.1b)$$

satisfying

$$\max\left\{\|\eta\|_{X^{s+3}}, \|\partial_t\eta\|_{X^{s+1}}, \|\xi\|_{X^{s+5/2}}, \|\partial_t\xi\|_{X^{s+1/2}}\right\}$$

$$\leq K_p\left\{\|Q\|_{X^{s+1}} + \|R\|_{X^{s+1/2}} + \left\|\eta^{(0)}\right\|_{H^{s+2}} + \left\|\xi^{(0)}\right\|_{H^{s+3/2}}\right\}, \quad (2.4.2)$$

where  $K_p > 0$  is a universal constant.

To establish this we require the following result from Friedman and Reitich (42) (Lemma 7.1).

Lemma 2.4.4. Consider the initial value problem

$$\dot{B}(t) + (K + iM)B(t) = F(t),$$
  $t > 0,$   
 $B(0) = B_0,$ 

where  $K, M \in \mathbf{R}$ ; K > 0; and  $F \in L^2(0,T)$  for any T > 0. If  $0 < \alpha < K$  then the following inequalities hold

$$[B]_t^2 \le \frac{2}{(K-\alpha)^2} [F]_t^2 + \frac{|B_0|^2}{K-\alpha},$$
(2.4.3a)

$$\left[\dot{B}\right]_{t}^{2} \leq 2\left(\frac{2K^{2}}{(K-\alpha)^{2}}+1\right)\left[F\right]_{t}^{2}+\frac{2K^{2}}{K-\alpha}\left|B_{0}\right|^{2}.$$
(2.4.3b)

To prove Theorem 2.4.3 we establish a similar result for a decoupled version of (Equation 2.4.1).

**Theorem 2.4.5.** Given a real number  $s \ge 4$ , if  $W \in X^s$ ,  $f \in H^{s+1}$  then there exists a unique solution of

$$\partial_t U = \left[ -2\mu |D|^2 \pm (i\omega_D) \right] U + W, \quad U(x,0) = f(x),$$
 (2.4.4)

satisfying

$$\max\left\{ \|U\|_{X^{s+2}}, \|\partial_t U\|_{X^s} \right\} \le \tilde{K}_p\left\{ \|W\|_{X^s} + \|f\|_{H^{s+1}} \right\},$$
(2.4.5)

where  $\tilde{K}_p > 0$  is a universal constant.

*Proof.* We focus on the case of (Equation 2.4.4) with the minus sign in front of  $(i\omega_D)$ ; the other case is handled similarly. We expand W and f in Fourier series

$$W(x,t) = \sum_{p=-\infty}^{\infty} \hat{W}_p(t) e^{ipx}, \quad f(x) = \sum_{p=-\infty}^{\infty} \hat{f}_p e^{ipx},$$

where  $\hat{W}_0(t) \equiv 0$  and  $\hat{f}_0 = 0$  by the definitions of  $X^s$  and  $H^s$ , respectively, and seek a solution

$$U(x,t) = \sum_{p=-\infty}^{\infty} \hat{U}_p(t) e^{ipx}.$$

Inserting these into (Equation 2.4.4) we find

$$\partial_t \hat{U}_p(t) = -\Omega(p)\hat{U}_p(t) + \hat{W}_p(t), \qquad (2.4.6a)$$

$$\hat{U}_p(0) = \hat{f}_p,$$
 (2.4.6b)

where

$$\Omega(p) := \left(2\mu |p|^2 + i\omega_p\right) = \mathcal{O}(p^2), \quad p \to \infty.$$

It is clear that  $\hat{U}_0(t) \equiv 0$  is the unique solution in the case p = 0 so we now concentrate on  $p \neq 0$ . Using Lemma 2.4.4 we find

$$\left[\hat{U}_{p}\right]_{\infty}^{2} \leq C_{0,W}(p) \left[\hat{W}_{p}\right]_{\infty}^{2} + C_{0,f}(p) \left|\hat{f}_{p}\right|^{2}, \qquad (2.4.7a)$$

$$\left[\partial_t \hat{U}_p\right]_{\infty}^2 \le C_{1,W}(p) \left[\hat{W}_p\right]_{\infty}^2 + C_{1,f}(p) \left|\hat{f}_p\right|^2, \qquad (2.4.7b)$$

with, since  $p \neq 0$ ,

$$K = K_p := 2\mu |p|^2 > 0, \quad 0 < \alpha < 2\mu |1|^2 \le \min_{p \ne 0} K_p,$$

for some  $\alpha$ . In these

$$C_{0,W}(p) := \frac{2}{(2\mu |p|^2 - \alpha)^2} = \mathcal{O}(p^{-4}), \qquad p \to \infty$$

$$C_{0,f}(p) := \frac{1}{(2\mu |p|^2 - \alpha)} = \mathcal{O}(p^{-2}), \qquad p \to \infty$$

$$C_{1,W}(p) := 2\left[\frac{2(2\mu |p|^2)^2}{(2\mu |p|^2 - \alpha)^2} + 1\right] = \mathcal{O}(1), \qquad p \to \infty$$

$$C_{1,f}(p) := \frac{2(2\mu |p|^2)^2}{(2\mu |p|^2 - \alpha)} = \mathcal{O}(p^2), \qquad p \to \infty.$$

Differentiating (Equation 2.4.6a) once with respect to t yields

$$\partial_t (\partial_t \hat{U}_p)(t) = -\Omega(p)(\partial_t \hat{U}_p)(t) + \partial_t \hat{W}_p(t), \qquad (2.4.8a)$$

$$\partial_t \hat{U}_p(0) = -\Omega(p)\hat{f}_p + \hat{W}_p(0), \qquad (2.4.8b)$$

where we have used (Equation 2.4.6a) and (Equation 2.4.6b) for the initial condition. Again, appealing to Lemma 2.4.4 we find

$$\left[\partial_t \hat{U}_p\right]_{\infty}^2 \le C_{0,W}(p) \left[\partial_t \hat{W}_p\right]_{\infty}^2 + C_{0,f}(p) |\Omega(p)|^2 \left|\hat{f}_p\right|^2 + C_{0,f}(p) \left|\hat{W}_p(0)\right|^2,$$
(2.4.9a)

$$\left[\partial_t^2 \hat{U}_p\right]_{\infty}^2 \le C_{1,W}(p) \left[\partial_t \hat{W}_p\right]_{\infty}^2 + C_{1,f}(p) \left|\Omega(p)\right|^2 \left|\hat{f}_p\right|^2 + C_{1,f}(p) \left|\hat{W}_p(0)\right|^2.$$
(2.4.9b)

Differentiating (Equation 2.4.8a) once with respect to t yields

$$\partial_t (\partial_t^2 \hat{U}_p)(t) = -\Omega(p)(\partial_t^2 \hat{U}_p)(t) + \partial_t^2 \hat{W}_p, \qquad (2.4.10a)$$

$$\partial_t^2 \hat{U}_p(0) = \Omega(p)^2 \hat{f}_p - \Omega(p) \hat{W}_p(0) + \partial_t \hat{W}_p(0), \qquad (2.4.10b)$$

where we have used (Equation 2.4.8a) and (Equation 2.4.8b) for the initial condition. Appealing to Lemma 2.4.4 as before we find

$$\left[ \partial_t^2 \hat{U}_p \right]_{\infty}^2 \leq C_{0,W}(p) \left[ \partial_t^2 \hat{W}_p \right]_{\infty}^2 + C_{0,f}(p) |\Omega(p)|^4 \left| \hat{f}_p \right|^2 + C_{0,f}(p) |\Omega(p)|^2 \left| \hat{W}_p(0) \right|^2 + C_{0,f}(p) \left| \partial_t \hat{W}_p(0) \right|^2,$$
(2.4.11a)  
$$\left[ \partial_t^3 \hat{U}_p \right]_{\infty}^2 \leq C_{1,W}(p) \left[ \partial_t^2 \hat{W}_p \right]_{\infty}^2 + C_{1,f}(p) |\Omega(p)|^4 \left| \hat{f}_p \right|^2 + C_{1,f}(p) |\Omega(p)|^2 \left| \hat{W}_p(0) \right|^2 + C_{1,f}(p) \left| \partial_t \hat{W}_p(0) \right|^2.$$
(2.4.11b)

If we multiply (Equation 2.4.7a) by  $\langle p \rangle^{2s+4}$ , (Equation 2.4.9a) by  $\langle p \rangle^{2s}$ , and (Equation 2.4.11a) by  $\langle p \rangle^{2s-4}$  and sum over p we find

$$\begin{split} \|U\|_{X^{s+2}} &= \sum_{p=-\infty}^{\infty} \left[ \langle p \rangle^{2s+4} \left[ \hat{U}_{p} \right]_{\infty}^{2} + \langle p \rangle^{2s} \left[ \partial_{t} \hat{U}_{p} \right]_{\infty}^{2} + \langle p \rangle^{2s-4} \left[ \partial_{t}^{2} \hat{U}_{p} \right]_{\infty}^{2} \right] \\ &\leq \sum_{p=-\infty}^{\infty} \left[ C_{0,W}(p) \left\{ \langle p \rangle^{2s+4} \left[ \hat{W}_{p} \right]_{\infty}^{2} + \langle p \rangle^{2s} \left[ \partial_{t} \hat{W}_{p} \right]_{\infty}^{2} + \langle p \rangle^{2s-4} \left[ \partial_{t}^{2} \hat{W}_{p} \right]_{\infty}^{2} \right\} \\ &+ C_{0,f}(p) \left\{ \langle p \rangle^{2s+4} \left| \hat{f}_{p} \right|^{2} + \langle p \rangle^{2s} \left| \Omega(p) \right|^{2} \left| \hat{f}_{p} \right|^{2} + \langle p \rangle^{2s} \left| \hat{W}_{p}(0) \right|^{2} \\ &+ \langle p \rangle^{2s-4} \left| \Omega(p) \right|^{4} \left| \hat{f}_{p} \right|^{2} + \langle p \rangle^{2s-4} \left| \Omega(p) \right|^{2} \left| \hat{W}_{p}(0) \right|^{2} + \langle p \rangle^{2s-4} \left| \partial_{t} \hat{W}_{p}(0) \right|^{2} \right\} \right]. \end{split}$$

From this we easily find that

$$\|U\|_{X^{s+2}} \le K_0 \left[ \|W\|_{X^s} + \|f\|_{H^{s+1}} + \|W(\cdot, 0)\|_{H^{s-1}} + \|\partial_t W(\cdot, 0)\|_{H^{s-3}} \right].$$
(2.4.12)

In a similar way, if we multiply (Equation 2.4.7b) by  $\langle p \rangle^{2s}$ , (Equation 2.4.9b) by  $\langle p \rangle^{2s-4}$ , and (Equation 2.4.11b) by  $\langle p \rangle^{2s-8}$  and sum over p we find

$$\|\partial_t U\|_{X^s} \le K_0 \left[ \|W\|_{X^s} + \|f\|_{H^{s+1}} + \|W(\cdot, 0)\|_{H^{s-1}} + \|\partial_t W(\cdot, 0)\|_{H^{s-3}} \right].$$
(2.4.13)

We now appeal to Lemma 2.2.3 (which requires  $s \ge 4$ ) and use this and estimate (Equation 2.4.12) to deliver

$$\|U\|_{X^{s+2}} \le \tilde{K}_p \left[ \|W\|_{X^s} + \|f\|_{H^{s+1}} \right],$$

and (Equation 2.4.13) to give

$$\|\partial_t U\|_{X^s} \le \tilde{K}_p \left[ \|W\|_{X^s} + \|f\|_{H^{s+1}} \right],$$

for some  $\tilde{K}_p > 0$  and we are done.

*Proof.* (Theorem 2.4.3) To establish this result we express our initial value problem, (Equation 2.4.1), on the Fourier side by using

$$\eta(x,t) = \sum_{p=-\infty}^{\infty} \hat{\eta}_p(t) e^{ipx}, \quad \xi(x,t) = \sum_{p=-\infty}^{\infty} \hat{\xi}_p(t) e^{ipx},$$

which, upon insertion into (Equation 2.4.1), delivers

$$\partial_t \hat{\eta}_p = \hat{G}_{0,p} \hat{\xi}_p - 2\mu |p|^2 \hat{\eta}_p + \hat{Q}_p, \qquad \qquad \hat{\eta}_p(0) = \widehat{\eta^{(0)}}_p, \qquad (2.4.14a)$$

$$\partial_t \hat{\xi}_p = -(g + \sigma |p|^2)\hat{\eta}_p - 2\mu |p|^2 \hat{\xi}_p + \hat{R}_p, \qquad \hat{\xi}_p(0) = \widehat{\xi^{(0)}}_p, \qquad (2.4.14b)$$

or

$$\partial_t \begin{pmatrix} \hat{\eta}_p \\ \hat{\xi}_p \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} -2\mu |p|^2 & \hat{G}_{0,p} \\ -(g + \sigma |p|^2) & -2\mu |p|^2 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \hat{\eta}_p \\ \hat{\xi}_p \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} \hat{Q}_p \\ \hat{R}_p \end{pmatrix}.$$

If we use  $\omega_p = \sqrt{(g + \sigma |p|^2)\hat{G}_{0,p}}$ , define

$$\hat{P}_p := \begin{pmatrix} -i\omega_p & i\omega_p \\ g + \sigma |p|^2 & g + \sigma |p|^2 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \hat{P}_p^{-1} = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} -1/(i\omega_p) & 1/(g + \sigma |p|^2) \\ 1/(i\omega_p) & 1/(g + \sigma |p|^2) \end{pmatrix},$$

and make the change of variables

$$\begin{pmatrix} \hat{\zeta}_p \\ \hat{\chi}_p \end{pmatrix} := \hat{P}_p^{-1} \begin{pmatrix} \hat{\eta}_p \\ \hat{\xi}_p \end{pmatrix} = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} -\hat{\eta}_p/(i\omega_p) + \hat{\xi}_p/(g+\sigma|p|^2) \\ \hat{\eta}_p/(i\omega_p) + \hat{\xi}_p/(g+\sigma|p|^2) \end{pmatrix},$$

we find

$$\partial_t \hat{\zeta}_p = \left(-2\mu |p|^2 + i\omega_p\right) \hat{\zeta}_p + \hat{V}_p$$
$$\partial_t \hat{\chi}_p = \left(-2\mu |p|^2 - i\omega_p\right) \hat{\chi}_p + \hat{W}_p,$$

where

$$\begin{pmatrix} \hat{V}_p \\ \hat{W}_p \end{pmatrix} := \hat{P}_p^{-1} \begin{pmatrix} \hat{Q}_p \\ \hat{R}_p \end{pmatrix} = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} -\hat{Q}_p/(i\omega_p) + \hat{R}_p/(g+\sigma|p|^2) \\ \hat{Q}_p/(i\omega_p) + \hat{R}_p/(g+\sigma|p|^2) \end{pmatrix}.$$

We note that

$$\begin{split} \eta &= -(i\omega_D)\zeta + (i\omega_D)\chi, \\ \xi &= (g - \sigma\partial_x^2)\zeta + (g - \sigma\partial_x^2)\chi, \end{split}$$

 $\mathbf{so}$ 

$$\max \{ \|\eta\|_{X^{s+3}}, \|\partial_t \eta\|_{X^{s+1}}, \|\xi\|_{X^{s+5/2}}, \|\partial_t \xi\|_{X^{s+1/2}}, \}$$
  
$$\leq C \{ \|\zeta\|_{X^{s+9/2}} + \|\partial_t \zeta\|_{X^{s+5/2}} + \|\chi\|_{X^{s+9/2}} + \|\partial_t \chi\|_{X^{s+5/2}} \}.$$

From Theorem 2.4.5 we have

$$\max\left\{ \|\eta\|_{X^{s+3}}, \|\partial_t \eta\|_{X^{s+1}}, \|\xi\|_{X^{s+5/2}}, \|\partial_t \xi\|_{X^{s+1/2}} \right\}$$
$$\leq C\tilde{K}_P\left\{ \|V\|_{X^{s+5/2}} + \left\|\zeta^{(0)}\right\|_{H^{s+7/2}} + \|W\|_{X^{s+5/2}} + \left\|\chi^{(0)}\right\|_{H^{s+7/2}} \right\}.$$

Now, since

$$V = \frac{1}{2} \left\{ (i\omega_D)^{-1}Q + (g - \sigma\partial_x^2)^{-1}R \right\},$$
  

$$W = \frac{1}{2} \left\{ (i\omega_D)^{-1}Q + (g - \sigma\partial_x^2)^{-1}R \right\},$$
  

$$\zeta^{(0)} = \frac{1}{2} \left\{ (i\omega_D)^{-1}\eta^{(0)} + (g - \sigma\partial_x^2)^{-1}\xi^{(0)} \right\},$$
  

$$\chi^{(0)} = \frac{1}{2} \left\{ (i\omega_D)^{-1}\eta^{(0)} + (g - \sigma\partial_x^2)^{-1}\xi^{(0)} \right\},$$

we have

$$\max \left\{ \|\eta\|_{X^{s+3}}, \|\partial_t \eta\|_{X^{s+1}}, \|\xi\|_{X^{s+5/2}}, \|\xi\|_{X^{s+1/2}} \right\}$$
  
$$\leq C\tilde{K}_P \tilde{C} \left\{ \|Q\|_{X^{s+1}} + \|R\|_{X^{s+1/2}} + \left\|\eta^{(0)}\right\|_{H^{s+2}} + \left\|\xi^{(0)}\right\|_{H^{s+3/2}} \right\},$$

and we are done if we choose  $K_P = C \tilde{K}_P \tilde{C}$ .

# 2.5 A Fundamental Lemma for the Linearized Water Wave Problem with Viscosity

We require the following estimate of the linearization of water wave problem (Equation 1.2.1) in order to proceed.

**Lemma 2.5.1.** Given an integer  $s \ge 4$ , if  $F \in V^{s+1}$ ,  $Q \in X^{s+1}$ ,  $R \in X^{s+1/2}$ ,  $\eta^{(0)} \in H^{s+2}$ , and  $\xi^{(0)} \in H^{s+3/2}$  then there exists a unique solution of

$$\Delta u = F, \qquad \qquad -h < y < 0, \qquad (2.5.1a)$$

$$\partial_y u = 0, \qquad \qquad y = -h, \qquad (2.5.1b)$$

$$\partial_t \eta = \partial_y u + 2\mu \partial_x^2 \eta + Q, \qquad \qquad y = 0, \qquad (2.5.1c)$$

$$\partial_t u = -g\eta + \sigma \partial_x^2 \eta - 2\mu \partial_y^2 u + R, \qquad \qquad y = 0, \qquad (2.5.1d)$$

$$u(x,0,0) = \xi^{(0)}(x), \tag{2.5.1e}$$

$$\eta(x,0) = \eta^{(0)}(x),$$
(2.5.1f)

## satisfying

$$\max\left\{\left\|\eta\right\|_{X^{s+3}}, \left\|\partial_{t}\eta\right\|_{X^{s+1}}, \left\|u(x,0,t)\right\|_{X^{s+5/2}}, \left\|\partial_{t}u(x,0,t)\right\|_{X^{s+1/2}}, \left\|u\right\|_{V^{s+3}}\right\}$$

$$\leq K\left\{\left\|F\right\|_{V^{s+1}} + \left\|Q\right\|_{X^{s+1}} + \left\|R\right\|_{X^{s+1/2}} + \left\|\eta^{(0)}\right\|_{H^{s+2}} + \left\|\xi^{(0)}\right\|_{H^{s+3/2}}\right\}, \quad (2.5.2)$$

for a universal constant K > 0.

*Proof.* Using the periodicity of solutions we write

$$\begin{split} \{u,F\} &= \{u,F\}(x,y,t) = \sum_{p=-\infty}^{\infty} \{\hat{u}_p, \hat{F}_p\}(y,t)e^{ipx},\\ \{\eta,Q,R\} &= \{\eta,Q,R\}(x,t) = \sum_{p=-\infty}^{\infty} \{\hat{\eta}_p, \hat{Q}_p, \hat{R}_p\}(t)e^{ipx},\\ \{\eta^{(0)},\xi^{(0)}\} &= \{\eta^{(0)},\xi^{(0)}\}(x) = \sum_{p=-\infty}^{\infty} \{\widehat{\eta^{(0)}}_p,\widehat{\xi^{(0)}}_p\}e^{ipx}, \end{split}$$

which transforms (Equation 2.5.1) into

$$\partial_y^2 \hat{u}_p - |p|^2 \, \hat{u}_p = \hat{F}_p, \qquad -h < y < 0, \qquad (2.5.3a)$$

$$\partial_y \hat{u}_p = 0, \qquad \qquad y = -h, \qquad (2.5.3b)$$

$$\partial_t \hat{\eta}_p = \partial_y \hat{u}_p - 2\mu |p|^2 \hat{\eta}_p + \hat{Q}_p, \qquad \qquad y = 0, \qquad (2.5.3c)$$

$$\partial_t \hat{u}_p = -g\hat{\eta}_p - \sigma |p|^2 \hat{\eta}_p - 2\mu \partial_y^2 \hat{u}_p + \hat{R}_p, \qquad y = 0,$$
 (2.5.3d)

$$\hat{u}_p(0,0) = \bar{\xi}^{(0)}{}_p,$$
(2.5.3e)

$$\hat{\eta}_p(0) = \hat{\eta}^{(0)}_{\ p}.$$
 (2.5.3f)

We now decompose the solution into two parts

$$\{\hat{u}_p, \hat{\eta}_p\} = \{U^P, H^P\} + \{U^E, H^E\},\$$

which essentially solve the parabolic (§ 2.4) and elliptic (§ 2.3) problems respectively, and we have suppressed the p subscript for clarity. More specifically,  $\{U^P, H^P\}$  solves (Equation 2.5.3) in the case  $\hat{F}_p \equiv 0$ ,

$$\partial_y^2 U^P - |p|^2 U^P = 0,$$
  $-h < y < 0,$  (2.5.4a)

$$\partial_y U^P = 0, \qquad \qquad y = -h, \qquad (2.5.4b)$$

$$\partial_t H^P = \partial_y U^P - 2\mu |p|^2 H^P + \hat{Q}_p, \qquad y = 0,$$
 (2.5.4c)

$$\partial_t U^P = -gH^P - \sigma |p|^2 H^P - 2\mu \partial_y^2 U^P + \hat{R}_p, \qquad y = 0, \qquad (2.5.4d)$$

$$U^P(0,0) = \widehat{\xi^{(0)}}_p,$$
 (2.5.4e)

$$H^P(0) = \widehat{\eta^{(0)}}_p,$$
 (2.5.4f)

while  $\{U^E, H^E\}$  solves (Equation 2.5.3) where  $\hat{Q}_p \equiv \hat{R}_p \equiv \widehat{\xi^{(0)}}_p \equiv \widehat{\eta^{(0)}}_p \equiv 0$ ,

$$\partial_y^2 U^E - |p|^2 U^E = \hat{F}_p, \qquad -h < y < 0, \qquad (2.5.5a)$$

$$\partial_y U^E = 0, \qquad \qquad y = -h, \qquad (2.5.5b)$$

$$\partial_t H^E = \partial_y U^E - 2\mu |p|^2 H^E,$$
  $y = 0,$  (2.5.5c)

$$\partial_t U^E = -gH^E - \sigma |p|^2 H^E - 2\mu \partial_y^2 U^E, \qquad y = 0,$$
 (2.5.5d)

$$U^E(0,0) = 0, (2.5.5e)$$

$$H^E(0) = 0. (2.5.5f)$$

It is not difficult to show that the solution of (Equation 2.5.4a) and (Equation 2.5.4b) is

$$U^{P}(y,t) = U^{P}(0,t) \frac{\cosh(|p|(y+h))}{\cosh(|p|h)}.$$

Upon insertion of this form into (Equation 2.5.4c)–(Equation 2.5.4f) we find

$$\begin{aligned} \partial_t H^P &= |p| \tanh(h |p|) U^P - 2\mu |p|^2 H^P + \hat{Q}_p, & y = 0, \\ \partial_t U^P &= -(g + \sigma |p|^2) H^P - 2\mu |p|^2 U^P + \hat{R}_p, & y = 0, \\ U^P(0, 0) &= \widehat{\xi^{(0)}}_p, \\ H^P(0) &= \widehat{\eta^{(0)}}_p. \end{aligned}$$

Upon inverse Fourier transform we find that this equation is identical to that appearing in Theorem 2.4.3 with  $\hat{\xi}_p(t) = U^P(0, t)$ . From this we learn that

$$\max\left\{\left\|H^{P}\right\|_{X^{s+3}}, \left\|\partial_{t}H^{P}\right\|_{X^{s+1}}, \left\|U^{P}(x,0,t)\right\|_{X^{s+5/2}}, \left\|\partial_{t}U^{P}(x,0,t)\right\|_{X^{s+1/2}}\right\}$$
$$\leq K_{p}\left\{\left\|Q\right\|_{X^{s+1}} + \left\|R\right\|_{X^{s+1/2}} + \left\|\eta^{(0)}\right\|_{H^{s+2}} + \left\|\xi^{(0)}\right\|_{H^{s+3/2}}\right\}. \quad (2.5.6)$$

Turning to (Equation 2.5.5) it is easy to see that (Equation 2.5.5c)–(Equation 2.5.5f) demand that

$$U^E(0,t) \equiv H^E(t) \equiv 0,$$

so that we are left to solve

$$\begin{split} \partial_y^2 U^E &- |p|^2 U^E = \hat{F}_p, & -h < y < 0, \\ \partial_y U^E &= 0, & y = -h, \\ U^E &= 0, & y = 0. \end{split}$$

However, upon inverse Fourier transform, we realize that this is simply the system of equations in Theorem 2.3.1 with  $\psi \equiv 0$ . Thus, we conclude that

$$\max\left\{ \left\| U^{E}(x,0,t) \right\|_{X^{s+5/2}}, \left\| \left\| U^{E} \right\|_{V^{s+3}} \right\} \le K_{e} \left\| F \right\|_{V^{s+1}}.$$
(2.5.7)

Combining (Equation 2.5.6) and (Equation 2.5.7) to estimate  $\hat{\eta}_p = H^P + H^E$  and  $\hat{u}_p = U^P + U^E$ we realize (Equation 2.5.2) for some K > 0.

### 2.6 An Inductive Lemma

To complete the proof of our theorem we require the following recursive estimates.

**Lemma 2.6.1.** For an integer  $s \ge 4$ , suppose for some C, B > 0 we have

$$\begin{split} \max\left\{ \|\eta_n\|_{X^{s+3}}, \|\partial_t\eta_n\|_{X^{s+1}}, \|u_n(x,0,t)\|_{X^{s+5/2}}, \|\partial_tu_n(x,0,t)\|_{X^{s+1/2}}, \|u_n\|_{V^{s+3}} \right\} \\ & \leq C \frac{B^{n-1}}{(n+1)^2}, \quad \forall n < N, \end{split}$$

then the functions  $F_N$ ,  $Q_N$  and  $R_N$  satisfy

$$\max\left\{\left\|\left\|F_{N}\right\|\right\|_{V^{s+1}}, \left\|Q_{N}\right\|_{X^{s+1}}, \left\|R_{N}\right\|_{X^{s+1/2}}\right\} \le C_{i}C\left\{\frac{B^{N-2}}{(N+1)^{2}} + \frac{B^{N-3}}{(N+1)^{2}} + \frac{B^{N-4}}{(N+1)^{2}}\right\},$$

for a universal constant  $C_i > 0$ .

 $\it Proof.$  To begin, we consider (Equation 1.2.4a) and estimate

$$\begin{split} h^{2} \| F_{N} \|_{V^{s+1}} &\leq 2h \| \| [\![\eta \partial_{x} u]\!]_{N} \|_{V^{s+2}} + hY \| \| [\![(\partial_{x} \eta) \partial_{y} u]\!]_{N} \| \|_{V^{s+2}} \\ &+ hY \| \| [\![(\partial_{x} \eta) \partial_{x} u]\!]_{N} \| \|_{V^{s+2}} + \| \| [\![\eta^{2} \partial_{x} u]\!]_{N} \| \|_{V^{s+2}} \\ &+ Y \| \| [\![\eta (\partial_{x} \eta) \partial_{y} u]\!]_{N} \| \|_{V^{s+2}} + Y \| \| [\![\eta (\partial_{x} \eta) \partial_{x} u]\!]_{N} \| \|_{V^{s+2}} \\ &+ Y^{2} \| \| [\![(\partial_{x} \eta)^{2} \partial_{y} u]\!]_{N} \| \|_{V^{s+2}} + h \| \| [\![(\partial_{x} \eta) \partial_{x} u]\!]_{N} \| \|_{V^{s+1}} \\ &+ \| \| [\![\eta (\partial_{x} \eta) \partial_{x} u]\!]_{N} \| \|_{V^{s+1}} + Y \| \| [\![(\partial_{x} \eta)^{2} \partial_{y} u]\!]_{N} \| \|_{V^{s+1}} \,. \end{split}$$

From Theorem B.0.1 we find, since  $s + 2, s + 1 \ge 4$ ,

$$\begin{split} h^{2} \| F_{N} \|_{V^{s+1}} &\leq \left\{ 2hC[\eta, \partial_{x}u] + hYC[\partial_{x}\eta, \partial_{y}u] \right. \\ &+ hYC[\partial_{x}\eta, \partial_{x}u] + hC[\partial_{x}\eta, \partial_{x}u] \right\} \frac{B^{N-2}}{(N+1)^{2}} \\ &+ \left\{ C[\eta, \eta, \partial_{x}u] + YC[\eta, \partial_{x}\eta, \partial_{y}u] + YC[\eta, \partial_{x}\eta, \partial_{x}u] \right. \\ &+ Y^{2}C[\partial_{x}\eta, \partial_{x}\eta, \partial_{y}u] + C[\eta, \partial_{x}\eta, \partial_{x}u] + YC[\partial_{x}\eta, \partial_{x}\eta, \partial_{y}u] \right\} \frac{B^{N-3}}{(N+1)^{2}}, \end{split}$$

where we have used  $\eta \in X^{s+3}$  and  $u \in V^{s+3}$ . Since we have chosen the same constant C for the estimates above we find

$$h^{2} |||F_{N}|||_{V^{s+1}} \leq (3h+2hY)C^{2}M\Sigma \frac{B^{N-2}}{(N+1)^{2}} + (2+3Y+Y^{2})C^{3}M^{2}\Sigma \frac{B^{N-3}}{(N+1)^{2}},$$

and we are done provided

$$C_i > \frac{1}{h^2} \max\{(3h + 2hY)CM\Sigma, (2 + 3Y + Y^2)C^2M^2\Sigma\}.$$

We continue by considering (Equation 1.2.4b) and estimate

$$\begin{split} h \|Q_N\|_{X^{s+1}} &\leq \|[\![\eta(\partial_t \eta)]\!]_N\|_{X^{s+1}} + 2\mu \, \|[\![\eta(\partial_x^2 \eta)]\!]_N\|_{X^{s+1}} + h \, \|[\![(\partial_x \eta)\partial_x u]\!]_N\|_{X^{s+1}} \\ &+ \|[\![\eta(\partial_x \eta)\partial_x u]\!]_N\|_{X^{s+1}} + h \, \|[\![(\partial_x \eta)^2 \partial_y u]\!]_N\|_{X^{s+1}} \,, \end{split}$$

From Theorem B.0.1 we find, since  $s + 1 \ge 4$ ,

$$h \|Q_N\|_{X^{s+1}} \leq \left\{ C[\eta, \partial_t \eta] + 2\mu C[\eta, \partial_x^2 \eta] + hC[\partial_x \eta, \partial_x u] \right\} \frac{B^{N-2}}{(N+1)^2} \\ + \left\{ C[\eta, \partial_x \eta, \partial_x u] + hC[\partial_x \eta, \partial_x \eta, \partial_y u] \right\} \frac{B^{N-3}}{(N+1)^2},$$

where we have used  $\eta_n \in X^{s+3}$ ,  $\partial_t \eta_n \in X^{s+1}$ , and  $u_n(x, 0, t) \in X^{s+5/2}$ . Again, as we have chosen the same constant C for the estimates above, we find

$$h \|Q_N\|_{X^{s+1}} \le (1+2\mu+h)C^2 M \Sigma \frac{B^{N-2}}{(N+1)^2} + (1+h)C^3 M^2 \Sigma \frac{B^{N-3}}{(N+1)^2},$$

and we are done provided

$$C_i > \frac{1}{h} \max\{(1+2\mu+h)CM\Sigma, (1+h)C^2M^2\Sigma\}.$$

Finally, we consider  $R_N$  and for this we require the following estimate on  $H_N$  from (Equation 1.2.6). If

$$\|\eta_n\|_{X^{s+3}} \le C \frac{B^{n-1}}{(n+1)^2}, \quad \forall n < N,$$

then

$$||H_N||_{X^{s+2}} \le C_i C \frac{B^{N-2}}{(N+1)^2}.$$

This can be established either by an argument analogous to the one given here for  $\{F_N, Q_N, R_N\}$ , or by simply appealing to the fact that the composition of two analytic functions is analytic. With this fact we return to (Equation 1.2.4c) and estimate

$$\begin{split} h^{2} \|R_{N}\|_{X^{s+1/2}} &\leq 2h \left\| \left[\!\left[ \eta \partial_{t} u \right]\!\right]_{N} \right\|_{X^{s+1/2}} + \left\| \left[\!\left[ \eta^{2} \partial_{t} u \right]\!\right]_{N} \right\|_{X^{s+1/2}} + h^{2} \left\| \left[\!\left[ (\partial_{t} \eta) \partial_{y} u \right]\!\right]_{N} \right\|_{X^{s+1/2}} \\ &+ h \left\| \left[\!\left[ \eta (\partial_{t} \eta) \partial_{y} u \right]\!\right]_{N} \right\|_{X^{s+1/2}} + 2gh \left\| \left[\!\left[ \eta^{2} \right]\!\right]_{N} \right\|_{X^{s+1/2}} + g \left\| \left[\!\left[ \eta^{3} \right]\!\right]_{N} \right\|_{X^{s+1/2}} \\ &+ 2\sigma h \left\| \left[\!\left[ \eta (\partial_{x}^{2} \eta) \right]\!\right]_{N} \right\|_{X^{s+1/2}} + \sigma \left\| \left[\!\left[ \eta^{2} (\partial_{x}^{2} \eta) \right]\!\right]_{N} \right\|_{X^{s+1/2}} \\ &+ \sigma h^{2} \left\| \left[\!\left[ \partial_{x} (\partial_{x} \eta) H(\partial_{x} \eta) \right]\!\right]\!\right]_{N} \right\|_{X^{s+1/2}} + 2\sigma h \left\| \left[\!\left[ \eta \partial_{x} (\partial_{x} \eta) H(\partial_{x} \eta) \right]\!\right]\!\right]_{N} \right\|_{X^{s+1/2}} \\ &+ \sigma \left\| \left[\!\left[ \eta^{2} \partial_{x} \left[ (\partial_{x} \eta) H(\partial_{x} \eta) \right]\!\right]\!\right]_{N} \right\|_{X^{s+1/2}} \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \left\{ h^{2} \left\| \left[\!\left[ (\partial_{x} u)^{2} \right]\!\right]_{N} \right\|_{X^{s+1/2}} + 2h \left\| \left[\!\left[ \eta (\partial_{x} u)^{2} \right]\!\right]_{N} \right\|_{X^{s+1/2}} \\ &+ \left\| \left[\!\left[ \eta^{2} (\partial_{x} u)^{2} \right]\!\right]_{N} \right\|_{X^{s+1/2}} + 2h \left\| \left[\!\left[ (\partial_{x} \eta) (\partial_{x} u) \partial_{y} u \right]\!\right]_{N} \right\|_{X^{s+1/2}} \\ &+ 2h \left\| \left[\!\left[ \eta (\partial_{x} \eta) (\partial_{x} u) \partial_{y} u \right]\!\right]_{N} \right\|_{X^{s+1/2}} + h^{2} \left\| \left[\!\left[ (\partial_{x} \eta)^{2} (\partial_{y} u)^{2} \right]\!\right]_{N} \right\|_{X^{s+1/2}} \right\} \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} h^{2} \left\| \left[\!\left[ (\partial_{y} u)^{2} \right]\!\right]_{N} \right\|_{X^{s+1/2}} . \end{split}$$

Once again using Theorem B.0.1 we find, since  $s+1/2 \geq 4,$ 

$$\begin{split} h^2 \|R_N\|_{X^{s+1/2}} &\leq \left\{ 2hC[\eta,\partial_t u] + h^2C[\partial_t\eta,\partial_y u] + 2ghC[\eta,\eta] + 2\sigma hC[\eta,\partial_x^2\eta] \right. \\ &+ \sigma h^2C[\partial_x\eta,H] + \frac{h^2}{2}C[\partial_x u,\partial_x u] + \frac{h^2}{2}C[\partial_y u,\partial_y u] \right\} \frac{B^{N-2}}{(N+1)^2} \\ &+ \left\{ C[\eta,\eta,\partial_t u] + hC[\eta,\partial_t\eta,\partial_y u] + gC[\eta,\eta,\eta] + \sigma C[\eta,\eta,\partial_x^2\eta] \right. \\ &+ 2\sigma hC[\eta,\partial_x\eta,H] + hC[\eta,\partial_x u,\partial_x u] + hC[\partial_x\eta,\partial_x u,\partial_y u] \right\} \frac{B^{N-3}}{(N+1)^2} \\ &+ \left\{ \sigma C[\eta,\eta,\partial_x\eta,H] + \frac{1}{2}C[\eta,\eta,\partial_x u,\partial_x u] + hC[\eta,\partial_x\eta,\partial_x u,\partial_y u] \right\} \frac{B^{N-3}}{(N+1)^2} \\ &+ \left\{ \frac{h^2}{2}C[\partial_x\eta,\partial_x\eta,\partial_y u,\partial_y u] \right\} \frac{B^{N-4}}{(N+1)^2}, \end{split}$$

where we have used  $\eta_n \in X^{s+3}$ ,  $\partial_t \eta_n \in X^{s+1}$ ,  $u_n(x, 0, t) \in X^{s+5/2}$ , and  $\partial_t u_n(x, 0, t) \in X^{s+1/2}$ . Finally, as above, since we have chosen the same constant C for the estimates above we find

$$\begin{split} h^2 \|R_N\|_{X^{s+1/2}} &\leq \left(2(1+g+\sigma)h + (2+\sigma)h^2\right) \frac{B^{N-2}}{(N+1)^2} + \left(1+3h+\sigma+g+2\sigma h\right) \frac{B^{N-3}}{(N+1)^2} \\ &+ \left(\sigma + \frac{1}{2} + h + \frac{h^2}{2}\right) \frac{B^{N-4}}{(N+1)^2}, \end{split}$$

and we are done provided

$$C_i > \frac{1}{h^2} \max\left\{ \left( 2(1+g+\sigma)h + (2+\sigma)h^2 \right) CM\Sigma, (1+3h+\sigma+g+2\sigma h) C^2 M^2 \Sigma, \left(\sigma + \frac{1}{2} + h + \frac{h^2}{2}\right) C^3 M^3 \Sigma \right\}.$$

-		
L		
L		

### 2.7 Well–Posedness Proof

At last we are in a position to establish our main result.

**Theorem 2.7.1.** Given an integer  $s \ge 4$ , if  $\eta^{(0)} \in H^{s+2}$  and  $\xi^{(0)} \in H^{s+3/2}$  then there exists a unique solution, of (Equation 1.2.1) of the form (Equation 1.2.2) satisfying

 $\max \left\{ \|\eta_n\|_{X^{s+3}}, \|\partial_t \eta_n\|_{X^{s+1}}, \|u_n(x,0,t)\|_{X^{s+5/2}}, \|\partial_t u_n(x,0,t)\|_{X^{s+1/2}}, \|u_n\|_{V^{s+3}} \right\} \\ \leq C \frac{B^{n-1}}{(n+1)^2}, \quad \forall n > 0, \quad (2.7.1)$ 

for universal constants C, B > 0.

*Proof.* We work by induction on n and begin at order n = 1 where (Equation 1.2.3) gives us

$\Delta u_1 = 0,$	-h < y < 0,
$\partial_y u_1 = 0,$	y = -h,
$\partial_t \eta_1 = \partial_y u_1 + 2\mu \partial_x^2 \eta_1,$	y = 0,
$\partial_t u_1 = -g\eta_1 + \sigma \partial_x^2 \eta_1 - 2\mu \partial_y^2 u_1,$	y = 0,
$u_1(x,0,0) = \xi^{(0)}(x),$	
$\eta_1(x,0) = \eta^{(0)}(x).$	

This can be solved explicitly and we set

$$C := \max \left\{ \|\eta_1\|_{X^{s+3}}, \|\partial_t \eta_1\|_{X^{s+1}}, \|u_1(x,0,t)\|_{X^{s+5/2}}, \|\partial_t u_1(x,0,t)\|_{X^{s+1/2}}, \|u_1\|_{V^{s+3}} \right\},$$

which, of course, depends upon  $\|\eta^{(0)}\|_{H^{s+2}}$  and  $\|\xi^{(0)}\|_{H^{s+3/2}}$ . We now assume estimate (Equation 2.7.1) for all n < N, and apply Lemma 2.5.1 to (Equation 1.2.3) at order N to realize

$$\max \{ \|\eta_N\|_{X^{s+3}}, \|\partial_t \eta_N\|_{X^{s+1}}, \|u_N(x,0,t)\|_{X^{s+5/2}}, \|\partial_t u_N(x,0,t)\|_{X^{s+1/2}}, \|u_N\|_{V^{s+3}} \} \le K \{ \|Q_N\|_{X^{s+1}} + \|R_N\|_{X^{s+1/2}} + \|F_N\|_{V^{s+1}} \},$$

where we have used that  $\eta^{(0)} \equiv \xi^{(0)} \equiv 0$  for n > 1. From Lemma 2.6.1 we have

$$\max\left\{\|\eta_N\|_{X^{s+3}}, \|\partial_t\eta_N\|_{X^{s+1}}, \|u_N(x,0,t)\|_{X^{s+5/2}}, \|\partial_tu_N(x,0,t)\|_{X^{s+1/2}}, \|u_N\|_{V^{s+3}}\right\}$$
$$\leq KC_i C\left\{\frac{B^{N-2}}{(N+1)^2} + \frac{B^{N-3}}{(N+1)^2} + \frac{B^{N-4}}{(N+1)^2}\right\},$$

and we are done if we choose  $B > \max\{KC_i, 1\}/3$ .

**Remark 2.7.2.** Before closing, we remark on a limitation of our method of proof. There is clearly a very specific choice of function spaces for the unknowns:  $\eta_n \in X^{s+3}$ ,  $\xi_n \in X^{s+5/2}$ ,  $u_n \in V^{s+3}$ . One can wonder if these can be changed. However, we believe that these choices are fixed for the following reasons:

1. Since  $u_n$  represents the field in the solution of an elliptic equation and  $\xi_n$  is its trace, it must be the case that

$$u_n \in V^t \quad \Longleftrightarrow \quad \xi_n \in X^{t-1/2}.$$

2. Our change of variables induces a relationship between the field and the surface deformation, namely, since  $\Delta u_n = F_n$  and  $F_n$  involves the second derivative of  $\eta_n$ , c.f. (Equation 1.2.4a), it appears that

$$u_n \in V^t \quad \iff \quad \eta_n \in X^t.$$

3. Finally, the parabolic estimate with capillarity features the balance

$$\eta_n \in X^t \quad \Longleftrightarrow \quad \xi_n \in X^{t-1/2}.$$

So, if we select t = s + 3 we can satisfy all three demands. However, if we drop the capillarity term the final balance in Point 3 becomes

$$\eta_n \in X^t \quad \Longleftrightarrow \quad \xi_n \in X^{t+1/2},$$

and our argument falls apart. However, it is quite possible that a different change of variables or a more subtle analysis could "improve" the relationship in Point 2 and allow us to consider pure gravity waves. **Remark 2.7.3.** We mentioned that another motivation for this work is the goal of modeling the Faraday wave experiment. We believe that the viscous water waves problem presented here will be a reasonable model of this physical problem provided that a periodically modulated gravity is introduced, e.g., g replaced by  $g+g\phi(t)$ ,  $\phi(t+\Omega) = \phi(t)$ . If the forcing is small, e.g.  $\phi = \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon)$ , then our new theorem can be used to establish existence and uniqueness of solutions; a couple of additional terms appear in the definition of  $R_n$  which are readily estimated. However, this is not completely satisfying as our results conclude that solutions decay exponentially as time evolves which is *not* the interesting regime of the Faraday wave experiment. To address the situation where  $\phi = \mathcal{O}(1)$  requires an analysis of a new linearized parabolic problem which has the character of a Mathieu equation. We save such considerations for a future publication.

#### 2.8 Conclusions

In this chapter we have established the existence and uniqueness of solutions to the capillary– gravity water wave problem supplemented with physically motivated viscosity. Our method of proof follows that of Friedman and Reitich in the contexts of the classical Stefan problem (39) and the capillary drop problem (42) which produces somewhat different results than those which can be attained by more standard techniques. It should be noted that due to the nature of the function spaces, the conclusion of the theorem is not only the well–posedness of our model, but also the stability of our solutions. More specifically, we discover *exponential* decay in time with the rate determined by the value of the viscosity. Thus, not only do unique solutions exist, they persist globally in time and decay exponentially fast to zero.

## CHAPTER 3

## NUMERICAL SIMULATIONS

### 3.1 Introduction

In this chapter, we present our numerical results. First, we are going to rewrite our equations using the Zakharov, Craig and Sulem ((29), (106)) surface formulation and give a formal definition of the Dirichlet-Neumann Operator (DNO). We then use Field Expansions ((74)) to compute the DNO and a fourth order Runge-Kutta time stepping method to solve the equations. We validate our code by comparing the solutions we obtain to the ones that can be derived in the case of traveling waves solutions. Finally, we use our solver to perform a study on the Faraday Wave experiment.

## 3.2 The Surface formulation of Zakharov, Craig and Sulem

We restate our problem in terms of Zakharov's canonical conjugate variables

$$\eta(x,t), \quad \xi(x,t) := \varphi(x,\eta(x,t),t),$$

with the use of the Dirichlet-Neumann operator

$$G: \xi \to [\partial_y \varphi - (\partial_x \eta) \partial_x \varphi](x, \eta(x, t), t),$$

which maps Dirichlet data to its Neumann counterpart. In terms of these, (Equation 1.1.1c-Equation 1.1.1f) can be written as

$$\partial_t \eta = G_0[\xi] + 2\mu \partial_x^2 \eta + Q(x, t) \tag{3.2.1a}$$

$$\partial_t \xi = -g\eta + \sigma \partial_x^2 \eta + 2\mu \partial_x^2 \xi + R(x, t)$$
(3.2.1b)

$$\xi(x,\eta,0) = \xi^{(0)}(x), \tag{3.2.1c}$$

$$\eta(x,0) = \eta^{(0)}(x),$$
(3.2.1d)

where we have used the fact that, by continuity  $\Delta \varphi = 0$  is true at the fluid air interface which means that  $\partial_y^2 \varphi = -\partial_x^2 \varphi = -\partial_x^2 \xi$ . Q and R are redefined from Chapter 1 to be

$$Q = G(\eta)[\xi] - G_0[\xi],$$
  

$$R = A(\eta)(\partial_x \xi)^2 - (G(\eta)[\xi])^2 - 2(\partial_x \xi)(\partial_x \eta)G(\eta)[\xi] + \sigma \partial_x \left[(\partial_x \eta)H(\partial_x \eta)\right]$$

and

$$A = A(\eta) := \frac{1}{2(1 + (\partial_x \eta)^2)}.$$
(3.2.3a)

Here,  $G_0$  expresses the lowest order behavior of the DNO

$$G_0[\xi] = \sum_{p=-\infty}^{\infty} \hat{G}_0 \hat{\xi}_p e^{i(\frac{2\pi}{d})px} = \sum_{p=-\infty}^{\infty} |p| \tanh(h|p|) \hat{\xi}_p e^{i(\frac{2\pi}{d})px},$$

where  $\hat{\xi}_p$  is the *p*-th Fourier coefficient of  $\xi(x)$ . To simplify the computations, we suppose  $\frac{2pi}{d} = 1$  in the rest of this chapter.

#### 3.3 2D Traveling Water Waves

We seek to test our codes which simulate the evolution of water waves in the Faraday wave experiment. For this, we use the traveling wave solutions in the absence of viscosity, surface tension and forcing to verify the accuracy of our code. We note that these can be computed to very high accuracy by the method outlined below. Traveling waves play an important role in applications like the propagation of tsunamis or the transport of pollutants. M. Kakleas and D. Nicholls (51) have simulated traveling waves solutions in the case of infinite depth for a weakly nonlinear version of the model, where only linear and quadratic terms were considered. Here, we present solutions to the full model for water with depth h using our Field Expansions method to compute the Dirichlet-Neumann operator and a Runge-Kutta 4 scheme to derive the solution.

#### 3.3.1 Derivation of the exact solutions

With the viscosity  $\mu = 0$  and the surface tension  $\sigma = 0$ , (Equation 3.2.1) become:

$$\partial_t \eta = G_0[\xi] + Q,$$
  $\eta(x, 0) = \eta^{(0)}(x),$  (3.3.1a)

$$\partial_t \xi = -g\eta + R,$$
  $\xi(x,0) = \xi^{(0)}(x).$  (3.3.1b)

To get traveling waves, we seek solutions of the form

$$u = \begin{pmatrix} \eta \\ \xi \end{pmatrix} = f(x + ct),$$

where c is the speed of the wave. The above equation becomes:

$$c\partial_x \eta - G_0 \xi = Q, \qquad \qquad y = 0, \qquad (3.3.2a)$$

$$c\partial_x \xi + g\eta = R, \qquad \qquad y = 0. \tag{3.3.2b}$$

We then use Taylor expansions and seek solutions of the form:

$$u = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} u_n(x)\varepsilon^n, \quad c = c_0 + \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} c_n\varepsilon^n,$$

where

$$u_n = \begin{pmatrix} \eta_n \\ \xi_n \end{pmatrix}.$$

1 At order 1, (Equation 3.3.2) becomes

$$\begin{cases} c_0 \partial_x \eta_1 - G_0 \xi_1 = 0, \\ c_0 \partial_x \xi_1 + g \eta_1 = 0, \end{cases}$$

or written in matrix form,

$$\begin{pmatrix} c_0 \partial_x & -G_0 \\ g & c_0 \partial_x \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \eta_1 \\ \xi_1 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Using bifurcation theory, we seek  $c_0$  such that

$$B_0 = \begin{pmatrix} c_0 \partial_x & -G_0 \\ & & \\ g & c_0 \partial_x \end{pmatrix},$$

has a non-trivial null space (otherwise, the equations only have trivial solutions).

As the solutions are spatially periodic, we apply Fourier transformations to  $\eta_1$  and  $\xi_1$  and obtain

$$\begin{pmatrix} \eta_1 \\ \xi_1 \end{pmatrix} = \sum_{p=-\infty}^{\infty} \begin{pmatrix} \hat{\eta}_{1,p} \\ \hat{\xi}_{1,p} \end{pmatrix} e^{ipx},$$

which gives

$$\hat{B}_{0,p} = egin{pmatrix} ipc_0 & -|p| anh(h|p|) \ g & ipc_0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

Since we are looking for nontrivial solutions, we consider parameter values where the determinant function

$$\Delta_p = -p^2 c_0^2 + g|p| \tanh(h|p|), \qquad (3.3.4)$$

is equal to zero. For any  $\tilde{p} \in \mathbf{Z} \setminus \{0\}$ , we can choose  $c_0 = \sqrt{\frac{g \tanh(h|\tilde{p}|)}{|\tilde{p}|}}$  so that  $\Delta_{\tilde{p}} = 0$ . Then, we pick for  $\rho \in \mathbf{R}$ 

$$\begin{pmatrix} \hat{\eta}_{1,\tilde{p}} \\ \hat{\xi}_{1,\tilde{p}} \end{pmatrix} = \rho \begin{pmatrix} |\tilde{p}| \tanh(h|\tilde{p}|) \\ i\tilde{p}c_0 \end{pmatrix},$$
$$\begin{pmatrix} \hat{\eta}_{1,-\tilde{p}} \\ \hat{\xi}_{1,-\tilde{p}} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \bar{\eta}_{1,\tilde{p}} \\ \bar{\xi}_{1,\tilde{p}} \end{pmatrix},$$

$$\begin{pmatrix} \hat{\eta}_{1,p} \\ \hat{\xi}_{1,p} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \text{ for } p \neq \pm \tilde{p}.$$

2 For orders n > 1, (Equation 3.3.2) gives us the equations

$$c_0 \partial_x \eta_n + \sum_{k=1}^{n-1} c_k \partial_x \eta_{n-k} - |D| \tanh(h|D|) \xi_n = Q_n, \qquad (3.3.5a)$$

$$c_0 \partial_x \xi_n + \sum_{k=1}^{n-1} c_k \partial_x \xi_{n-k} + g\eta_n = R_n, \qquad (3.3.5b)$$

where,  $Q_1 \equiv R_1 \equiv 0$  and, for  $n \ge 2$  we have

$$Q_{n} = G_{n},$$

$$R_{n} = \sum_{m=1}^{n} \sum_{l=1}^{m-1} A_{n-m} (\partial_{x} \xi_{m-l}) (\partial_{x} \xi_{l}) - \sum_{m=1}^{n} \sum_{l=0}^{m} A_{n-m} (\partial_{x} \xi_{m-l}) (\partial_{x} \xi_{l})$$

$$- 2 \sum_{m=1}^{n} \sum_{l=1}^{m-1} \sum_{q=0}^{l-1} A_{n-m} (\partial_{x} \xi_{m-l}) (\partial_{x} \eta_{l-q}) (G_{q})$$

and

$$A(\eta) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} A_n \varepsilon^n, \quad G(\eta)[\xi] = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} G_n \varepsilon^n.$$

**Remark 3.3.1.** From the definition (Equation 3.2.3a) of A, we get

$$2A + 2(\partial_x \eta)^2 A = 1,$$

56



Figure 1: Numerical approximation of a two-dimensional traveling wave solution for  $\varepsilon = \frac{1}{100}$  at t = 0,  $t = \frac{T}{2}$ , t = T using N = 8 Taylor orders in the approximation of the DNO.

which gives  $A_0 = \frac{1}{2}$ ,  $A_1 = 0$ , and, for  $n \ge 2$ ,

$$A_{n} = -\sum_{m=1}^{n-1} \sum_{l=0}^{m-1} (\partial_{x} \eta_{n-m}) (\partial_{x} \eta_{m-l}) A_{l}.$$

Upon going to the Fourier side,

$$\hat{B}_{0,p}\begin{pmatrix}\hat{\eta}_{n,p}\\\hat{\xi}_{n,p}\end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix}\hat{Q}_{n,p} - \sum_{k=1}^{k=n-1} ipc_k \hat{\eta}_{n-k,p}\\\hat{R}_{n,p} - \sum_{k=1}^{k=n-1} ipc_k \hat{\xi}_{n-k,p}\end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix}\tilde{Q}_{n,p} - ipc_{n-1} \hat{\eta}_{1,p}\\\tilde{R}_{n,p} - ipc_{n-1} \hat{\xi}_{1,p}\end{pmatrix}.$$

We now consider three cases of  $p \in \mathbf{Z}$ :

- a. If  $\mathbf{p} \neq \mathbf{0}, \pm \mathbf{\tilde{p}}$ , then  $\hat{B}_{0,p}$  is invertible and the solution is easily derived.
- b. If  $\mathbf{p} = \mathbf{0}$ , then we obtain  $g\hat{\eta}_{n,p} = \hat{R}_{n,p}$  which is easily solved. We then set  $\hat{\xi}_{n,p} = 0$  since the velocity potential is only meaningful up to a constant.
- c. If  $\mathbf{p} = \pm \tilde{\mathbf{p}}$ , for example, if  $p = \tilde{p}$ , the matrix  $\hat{B}_{0,\tilde{p}}$  is singular but, using Gaussian elimination, the equation is solvable if

$$c_{n-1} = \frac{g\tilde{\hat{Q}}_{n,\tilde{p}} - (ic_0\tilde{p})\tilde{\hat{R}}_{n,\tilde{p}}}{g(i\tilde{p})\hat{\eta}_{1,\tilde{p}} - (ic_0\tilde{p})i\tilde{p}\hat{\xi}_{1,\tilde{p}}}.$$

We then follow the approach of Stokes (100) to get the uniqueness of the solution by taking  $\eta_n$  orthogonal to  $\eta_1$  in  $L^2$ . Since  $\eta_1$  is only supported by wavenumbers  $p = \pm \tilde{p}$ , this is obtained by setting  $\hat{\eta}_{n,\pm\tilde{p}} = 0$ . We then obtain

$$\hat{\xi}_{n,\tilde{p}} = \frac{\tilde{\hat{R}}_{n,\tilde{p}} - c_{n-1}(i\tilde{p})\hat{\xi}_{1,\tilde{p}}}{ic_0\tilde{p}}, \quad \hat{\xi}_{n,-\tilde{p}} = \bar{\hat{\xi}}_{n,\tilde{p}}.$$

With these, we find approximations of the traveling wave solutions with the truncated series

$$u^N(x) = \sum_{n=0}^N u_n(x)\varepsilon^n.$$

#### 3.3.2 Solving the Water Wave Equations

We now describe our procedure for solving (Equation 3.3.2). Following Trefethen (101), we utilize a Fourier collocation approach where we assume

$$\{\eta,\xi\}(x,t) = \sum_{p=-\frac{N_x}{2}}^{\frac{N_x}{2}-1} \{\hat{\eta}_p(t), \hat{\xi}_p(t)\} e^{ipx}$$

and demand that (Equation 3.3.5) be true at the equally-spaced gridpoints  $\{x_j\}_{j=0}^{N_x-1}$ ,  $x_j = \frac{2\pi j}{N_x}$ . The only novelty of our approach is the treatment of the DNO that we approximate using Field Expansions (74). Then, we use a fourth order Runge-Kutta method to approximate the solution to (Equation 3.3.2). Runge-Kutta methods are a family of iterative methods used to approximate solutions of ordinary differential equations of the form

$$\partial_t y = f(y(t), t), \quad y(t_0) = y_0.$$

For a step size h, the fourth order Runge-Kutta method is based on the following iterations

$$y_{n+1} = y_n + \frac{1}{6}k_1 + \frac{1}{3}k_2 + \frac{1}{3}k_3 + \frac{1}{6}k_4,$$

where

$$k_{1} = hf(y_{n}, t_{n}),$$

$$k_{2} = hf(y_{n} + \frac{k_{1}}{2}, t_{n} + \frac{h}{2}),$$

$$k_{3} = hf(y_{n} + \frac{k_{2}}{2}, t_{n} + \frac{h}{2}),$$

$$k_{4} = hf(y_{n} + k_{3}, t_{n} + h).$$

#### 3.3.3 Simulation of two-dimensional traveling waves

In figure (1), we show the solutions at different times t with initial conditions given by the traveling wave solution at t = 0. As expected, the solution comes back to its initial position at the final time T which corresponds to one full period.

## 3.4 3D Traveling Water Waves

### 3.4.1 Derivation of the exact solutions

We now simulate 3D traveling waves solutions. Here  $x = (x_1, x_2)$  and we derivate the exact solution by following Nicholls and Reitich (85). As before, we are looking for solutions of the form

$$u = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} u_n(x)\varepsilon^n,$$

where

$$u_n = \begin{pmatrix} \eta_n \\ \xi_n \end{pmatrix}.$$

We seek traveling waves with speed  $c = (c_{x_1}, c_{x_2}) = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} (c_n^{x_1}, c_n^{x_2}) \varepsilon^n$  such that

$$u(x_1, x_2, t) = f(x_1 + c_1 t, x_2 + c_2 t).$$

Upon going on the Fourier side to get

$$\begin{pmatrix} \eta_n \\ \xi_n \end{pmatrix} = \sum_{p=-\infty}^{\infty} \sum_{q=-\infty}^{\infty} \begin{pmatrix} \hat{\eta}_{n,p,q} \\ \hat{\xi}_{n,p,q} \end{pmatrix} e^{ipx_1 + iqx_2}.$$

We now have
$$\hat{B}_{0,p,q} = \begin{pmatrix} i(c_0^{x_1}p + c_0^{x_2}q) & -\sqrt{p^2 + q^2} \tanh(h\sqrt{p^2 + q^2}) \\ g & i(c_0^{x_1}p + c_0^{x_2}q) \end{pmatrix}$$

and  $\Delta_{p,q} = -(c_0^{x_1}p + c_0^{x_2}q)^2 + g * \sqrt{p^2 + q^2} \tanh(h\sqrt{p^2 + q^2})$ . We show below the procedure to compute a 3D traveling wave solution:

1 At order 1 For  $(p,q) \neq (0,0)$ , if we reason as in the 2D case, we will pick  $(\tilde{p}, \tilde{q})$  such that  $\Delta_{\tilde{p},\tilde{q}} = 0$ . From that, we would get for  $\rho \in \mathbf{R}$ ,

$$\begin{pmatrix} \hat{\eta}_{1,\tilde{p},\tilde{q}} \\ \hat{\xi}_{1,\tilde{p},\tilde{q}} \end{pmatrix} = \rho \begin{pmatrix} \sqrt{\tilde{p}^2 + \tilde{q}^2} \tanh(h\sqrt{\tilde{p}^2 + \tilde{q}^2}) \\ i(c_0^{x_1}\tilde{p} + c_0^{x_2}\tilde{q}) \end{pmatrix}, \quad \begin{pmatrix} \hat{\eta}_{1,-\tilde{p},-\tilde{q}} \\ \hat{\xi}_{1,-\tilde{p},-\tilde{q}} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \bar{\eta}_{1,\tilde{p},\tilde{q}} \\ \bar{\xi}_{1,\tilde{p},\tilde{q}} \end{pmatrix},$$
$$\begin{pmatrix} \hat{\eta}_{1,p,q} \\ \hat{\xi}_{1,p,q} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \text{for } (p,q) \neq (\tilde{p},\tilde{q}).$$

However, as noted in (85), these solutions are two dimensional waveforms in a rotated set of coordinates (see figure(2)).

To get true three-dimensional solutions, we follow (85) and begin by selecting two lineary independant wavenumbers  $k_1 = (\tilde{p}, \tilde{q})$  and  $k_2 = (\tilde{q}, -\tilde{p})$ . We then solve  $\Delta_{k_j} = 0, j = 1, 2$ to obtain

$$c_0^{x_1} = \frac{-(\tilde{p} + \tilde{q})\sqrt{g\hat{G}_{0,\tilde{p,q}}}}{-(\tilde{p}^2 + \tilde{q}^2)}, \quad c_0^{x_1} = \frac{(\tilde{p} - \tilde{q})\sqrt{g\hat{G}_{0,\tilde{p,q}}}}{-(\tilde{p}^2 + \tilde{q}^2)}.$$

,



Figure 2: Illustration of a nontruly 3D traveling wave solution for  $(\tilde{p}, \tilde{q}) = (1, 1)$ 

Then, we pick, for  $\rho_1, \rho_2 \in \mathbf{R}$ 

$$\begin{pmatrix} \hat{\eta}_{1,\tilde{p},\tilde{q}} \\ \hat{\xi}_{1,\tilde{p},\tilde{q}} \end{pmatrix} = \rho_1 \begin{pmatrix} \sqrt{\tilde{p}^2 + \tilde{q}^2} \tanh(h\sqrt{\tilde{p}^2 + \tilde{q}^2}) \\ i(c_0^{x_1}\tilde{p} + c_0^{x_2}\tilde{q}) \end{pmatrix}, \quad \begin{pmatrix} \hat{\eta}_{1,-\tilde{p},-\tilde{q}} \\ \hat{\xi}_{1,-\tilde{p},-\tilde{q}} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \bar{\eta}_{1,\tilde{p},\tilde{q}} \\ \bar{\xi}_{1,\tilde{p},\tilde{q}} \end{pmatrix}, \\ \begin{pmatrix} \hat{\eta}_{1,\tilde{q},-\tilde{p}} \\ \hat{\xi}_{1,\tilde{q},-\tilde{p}} \end{pmatrix} = \rho_2 \begin{pmatrix} \sqrt{\tilde{p}^2 + \tilde{q}^2} \tanh(h\sqrt{\tilde{p}^2 + \tilde{q}^2}) \\ i(c_0^{x_1}\tilde{q} - c_0^{x_2}\tilde{p}) \end{pmatrix}, \quad \begin{pmatrix} \hat{\eta}_{1,-\tilde{q},\tilde{p}} \\ \hat{\xi}_{1,-\tilde{q},\tilde{p}} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \bar{\eta}_{1,\tilde{q},-\tilde{p}} \\ \bar{\xi}_{1,\tilde{q},-\tilde{p}} \end{pmatrix}, \\ \begin{pmatrix} \hat{\eta}_{1,p,q} \\ \hat{\xi}_{1,p,q} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}, \quad \text{for } (p,q) \neq (\tilde{p},\tilde{q}), \ (p,q) \neq (\tilde{q},-\tilde{p}). \end{cases}$$

2 For orders n > 1, we have the equations

$$\hat{B}_{0,p,q} \begin{pmatrix} \hat{\eta}_{n,p,q} \\ \hat{\xi}_{n,p,q} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \tilde{\hat{Q}}_{p,q} - i(c_{n-1}^{x_1}p + c_{n-1}^{x_2}q)\hat{\eta}_{1,p,q} \\ \tilde{\hat{R}}_{p,q} - i(c_{n-1}^{x_1}p + c_{n-1}^{x_2}q)\hat{\xi}_{1,p,q} \end{pmatrix}$$

- a. If (p,q) ≠ (0,0) then B̂<sub>0,p,q</sub> is invertible and the solution is easily derived
  b. If (p,q) = (0,0) then we obtain gη̂<sub>n,p,q</sub> = Q̂<sub>p,q</sub> which is easily solved. We then set ξ̂<sub>n,p,q</sub> = 0.
- c. If  $(p,q) = \pm(\tilde{p},\tilde{q})$  or  $\pm(\tilde{q},-\tilde{p})$ , then, as for the 2D case, we use Gaussian elimination to get

$$\begin{split} \tilde{p}c_{n-1}^{x_1} + \tilde{q}c_{n-1}^{x_2} &= \frac{g\tilde{\hat{Q}}_{n,\tilde{p},\tilde{q}} - i(c_0^{x_1}\tilde{p} + c_0^{x_2}\tilde{q})\tilde{\hat{R}}_{n,\tilde{p},\tilde{q}}}{g(i\hat{\eta}_{1,\tilde{p},\tilde{q}} - (i(c_0^{x_1}\tilde{p} + c_0^{x_2}\tilde{q}))(i(\tilde{p} + \tilde{q}))\hat{\xi}_{1,\tilde{p},\tilde{q}}} = rhs_1, \\ \tilde{q}c_{n-1}^{x_1} - \tilde{p}c_{n-1}^{x_2} &= \frac{g\tilde{\hat{Q}}_{n,\tilde{q},-\tilde{p}} - i(c_0^{x_1}\tilde{q} - c_0^{x_2}\tilde{p})\tilde{\hat{R}}_{n,\tilde{q},-\tilde{p}}}{g(i\hat{\eta}_{1,\tilde{q},-\tilde{p}} - (i(c_0^{x_1}\tilde{q} - c_0^{x_2}\tilde{p}))(i(\tilde{q} - \tilde{p}))\hat{\xi}_{1,\tilde{q},-\tilde{p}}} = rhs_2, \end{split}$$

Which, upon solving gives us

$$c_{n-1}^{x_1} = \frac{-rhs_1 \times \tilde{p} - rhs_2 \times \tilde{q}}{-(\tilde{p}^2 + \tilde{q}^2)},$$
$$c_{n-1}^{x_2} = \frac{rhs_2 \times \tilde{p} - rhs_1 \times \tilde{q}}{-(\tilde{p}^2 + \tilde{q}^2)}.$$

•

Then, following Stokes again, set  $\hat{\eta}_{n,\tilde{p},\tilde{q}} = \hat{\eta}_{n,-\tilde{p},-\tilde{q}} = \hat{\eta}_{n,\tilde{q},-\tilde{p}} = \hat{\eta}_{n,-\tilde{q},\tilde{p}} = 0$  and obtain

$$\begin{split} \hat{\xi}_{n,\tilde{p},\tilde{q}} = & \frac{\tilde{\hat{R}}_{n,\tilde{p},\tilde{q}} - i(c_{n-1}^{x_1}\tilde{p} + c_{n-1}^{x_2}\tilde{q})\hat{\xi}_{1,\tilde{p},\tilde{q}}}{i(c_0^{x_1}\tilde{p} + c_0^{x_2}\tilde{q})}, \quad \hat{\xi}_{n,-\tilde{p},-\tilde{q}} = \bar{\hat{\xi}}_{n,\tilde{p},\tilde{q}}\\ \hat{\xi}_{n,\tilde{q},-\tilde{p}} = & \frac{\tilde{\hat{R}}_{n,\tilde{q},-\tilde{p}} - i(c_{n-1}^{x_1}\tilde{q} - c_{n-1}^{x_2}\tilde{p})\hat{\xi}_{1,\tilde{q},-\tilde{p}}}{i(c_0^{x_1}\tilde{q} - c_0^{x_2}\tilde{p})}, \quad \hat{\xi}_{n,-\tilde{q},\tilde{p}} = \bar{\hat{\xi}}_{n,\tilde{q},-\tilde{p}}. \end{split}$$

In the same spirit as before, we now approximate the exact traveling wave solutions with the truncated series

$$u^{N}(x_{1}, x_{2}) = \sum_{n=0}^{N} u_{n}(x_{1}, x_{2})\varepsilon^{n}.$$

#### 3.4.2 Simulation of three-dimensional traveling waves

Here we adapt the scheme given above to approximate a two-dimensional traveling wave to the three- dimensional case. We assume that  $u_n(x_1, x_2)$  is approximated with

$$u_n(x_1, x_2, t) = \sum_{p = -\frac{N_x}{2}}^{\frac{N_x}{2} - 1} \sum_{q = -\frac{N_y}{2}}^{\frac{N_y}{2} - 1} \hat{u}_{n,p,q} e^{i(px_1 + qx_2)}$$

and demand that (Equation 3.3.2) be true at the equally-spaced gridpoints

$$\left(\{x_{1j}\}_{j=0}^{N_x-1}, \{x_{2j}\}_{j=0}^{N_y-1}\right), \quad (x_{1j}, x_{2j}) = \left(\frac{2\pi j}{N_x}, \frac{2\pi j}{N_y}\right).$$

We make sure to pick  $(\tilde{p}, \tilde{q})$  such that  $(\tilde{q}, -\tilde{p})$  is in the truncated wavenumbers domain. As in the two-dimensional case, we approximate the DNO using Field Expansions and use a Runge-



Figure 3: Numerical approximation of a 3D traveling wave solution for  $\varepsilon = \frac{1}{100}$ at t = 0,  $t = \frac{3T}{4}$ , t = T using N = 4 Taylor orders in the approximation of the DNO and  $(\tilde{p}, \tilde{q}) = (1, 1)$ 

Kutta method to approximate the solutions of (Equation 3.3.2).

Figure (3) shows the solutions obtained by our method and those obtained by truncating the exact solutions for  $(\tilde{p}, \tilde{q}) = (1, 1)$ . The figure shows that our method fits the truncated exact solution satisfactorily. Also, as expected, the solution come back to its initial position at the final time T which corresponds to one full period. Figure (4) shows an approximated traveling wave solution at different times for  $(\tilde{p}, \tilde{q}) = (2, 2)$ .

Given the satisfactory results we obtain in the case of traveling wave solutions, we feel justified in beginning our study of the Faraday Wave Experiment.

#### 3.5 The Faraday Wave Experiment

Faraday waves are obtained when a vessel containing two immiscible fluids is vertically forced into motion. The shaking induces a pattern of standing waves at the interface of the two fluids. They were first noticed by Faraday in 1831, and Miles and Henderson provided an extensive review on Faraday waves in 1990. The patterns can have differents shapes from simple squares to eight-fold patterns (Christiansen, Alstrom and Levinsen (1992)), twelve-fold quasipatterns (Edwards and Fauve, 1994), triangles (Muller, 1993), and even spatiotemporal chaos (Kudrolli and Gollub, 1996). Benjamin and Ursell (14) studied the stability of the free surface between inviscid fluids theoretically by showing that the equations of the system are equivalent to a Mathieu equation. However, they observed large discrepancies between their results in the case of ideal fluids and the experimental results for viscous fluids. For this reason,



Figure 4: Numerical approximation of a 3D traveling wave solution for  $\varepsilon = \frac{1}{100}$ at t = 0,  $t = \frac{2T}{3}$ , t = T using N = 4 Taylor orders in the approximation of the DNO and  $(\tilde{p}, \tilde{q}) = (2, 2)$ 

Tuckerman and Kumar (102) extended the work of Benjamin and Ursell to viscous fluids in 1994.

Here we consider a vessel containing a layer of (viscous) water of height h and air above, and are interested in the stability of the free surface of the water. We simulate the Faraday wave experiment (35) by supplementing our equations with a periodically varying gravity in the form of a single frequency sinusoid so that Equation 3.2.1 become:

$$\partial_t \eta = G_0 \xi + 2\mu \partial_x^2 \eta + Q, \qquad (3.5.1a)$$

$$\partial_t \xi = -g(1 - 2F\cos(\Omega t))\eta + \sigma \partial_x^2 \eta + 2\mu \partial_x^2 \xi + R, \qquad (3.5.1b)$$

where  $G_0 = |D| \tanh(h|D|)$ .

First we derive a Mathieu equation and compare its solutions to the one obtained by using our algorithm to validate it. Then, we use our solver to derive stability results similar to the ones obtained by Tuckermann and Kumar.

#### 3.5.1 Derivation of a Mathieu type Equation

Following Benjamin and Ursell, we linearize (Equation 3.5.1) and show how a Mathieu equation can be obtained. First, we make the change of variables

$$\Omega t = 2\tau \implies \tau = \frac{\Omega}{2}t$$

which transforms (Equation 3.5.1) into

$$\partial_{\tau}\eta = \frac{2}{\Omega}G_0\xi + \frac{4\mu}{\Omega}\partial_x^2\eta + \frac{2}{\Omega}Q, \qquad (3.5.2a)$$

$$\partial_t \xi = -g \frac{2}{\Omega} (1 - 2F \cos(\Omega t))\eta + \frac{2\sigma}{\Omega} \partial_x^2 \eta + \frac{4\mu}{\Omega} \partial_x^2 \xi + \frac{2}{\Omega} R.$$
(3.5.2b)

### 3.5.1.1 Linear Solutions and Spatial Periodicity

If we consider  $\{\eta, \xi\} = O(\varepsilon)$ , then, at leading order, the governing equations (Equation 3.5.2) become (recall that Q and R contain the nonlinear terms)

$$\partial_{\tau}\eta = \frac{2}{\Omega}G_0\xi + \frac{4\mu}{\Omega}\partial_x^2\eta, \qquad (3.5.3a)$$

$$\partial_t \xi = -g \frac{2}{\Omega} (1 - 2F \cos(\Omega t))\eta + \frac{2\sigma}{\Omega} \partial_x^2 \eta + \frac{4\mu}{\Omega} \partial_x^2 \xi.$$
(3.5.3b)

We seek spatially d-periodic solutions. Defining the spatial frequency  $\kappa := \frac{2\pi}{d}$  we have

$$\{\eta(x,\tau),\xi(x,\tau)\} = \sum_{p=-\infty}^{\infty} \{\hat{\eta}(x,\tau),\hat{\xi}(x,\tau)\} e^{i\kappa px},$$

and find

$$\partial_{\tau} \begin{pmatrix} \hat{\eta}_p \\ \hat{\xi}_p \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} -\frac{4\mu}{\Omega} |p|^2 & \frac{2}{\Omega} \hat{G}_{0,p} \\ -\frac{2g}{\Omega} [1 - 2F \cos(2\tau)] - \sigma |p|^2 & -\frac{4\mu}{\Omega} |p|^2 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \hat{\eta}_p \\ \hat{\xi}_p \end{pmatrix}.$$

To simplify things, we factor out the time-decay with the change of variables

$$u(x,\tau) = e^{2\alpha\tau}\eta(x,\tau), \quad v(x,\tau) = e^{2\alpha\tau}\xi(x,\tau), \quad \alpha := \frac{2\mu|p|^2}{\Omega},$$

resulting in

$$\partial_{\tau} \begin{pmatrix} \hat{u}_p \\ \hat{v}_p \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \frac{2}{\Omega} \hat{G}_{0,p} \\ -\frac{2g}{\Omega} [1 - 2F\cos(2\tau)] - \sigma |p|^2 & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \hat{u}_p \\ \hat{v}_p \end{pmatrix}.$$

Taking the time derivative of the first equation and using the second equation, we find

$$\partial_{\tau}^2 \hat{u}_p + \left(\frac{2}{\Omega}\right)^2 g \hat{G}_{0,p} \left(1 - \frac{\sigma \Omega |p|^2}{2} - 2F \cos(2\tau)\right) \hat{u}_p = 0,$$

or defining

$$\omega_0^2 = \omega_0^2(p; g, h, \kappa) := g\hat{G}_{0,p},$$

this becomes

$$\partial_{\tau}^2 \hat{u}_p + \left(\frac{2\omega_0}{\Omega}\right)^2 \left(1 - \frac{\sigma\Omega|p|^2}{2} - 2F\cos(2\tau)\right) \hat{u}_p = 0.$$
(3.5.4)

Upon defining

$$a = \left(\frac{2\omega_0}{\Omega}\right)^2 \left(1 - \frac{\sigma\Omega|p|^2}{2}\right), \quad q = aF,$$



Figure 5: A comparision between the solutions obtained by solving a Mathieu equation and the solutions obtained using our algorithm for N = 16 Taylor orders,  $N_x = 16$  Fourier terms,  $\varepsilon = \frac{1}{100}$  and F = 0.

we discover that (Equation 3.5.4) is the canonical Mathieu equation

$$\partial_{\tau}^2 \hat{u}_p + (a - 2q\cos(2\tau))\hat{u}_p = 0. \tag{3.5.5}$$



Figure 6: A comparision between the solutions obtained by solving a Mathieu equation and the solutions obtained using our algorithm for N = 16 Taylor orders,  $N_x = 16$  Fourier terms,  $\varepsilon = \frac{1}{100}$  and F = 0.23.



Figure 7: A comparision between the solutions obtained by solving a Mathieu equation and the solutions obtained using our algorithm for N = 16 Taylor orders,  $N_x = 16$  Fourier terms,  $\varepsilon = \frac{1}{100}$  and F = 0.39.

#### 3.5.1.2 Comparison with HOPS methods

We compare the solutions obtained by solving the above Mathieu equation to the one obtain by using Field Expansions to simulate the DNO and a fourth order Runge-Kutta method. The following figures (5, 6, 7, 8) show the two solutions at the final time T of our experiment which corresponds to one full period.

Our method replicates the behavior of the solution obtained by solving the Mathieu equation. One advantage of our method is that it is faster and more flexible than the one proposed by Tuckermann et al. In fact, in the literature, people have used Floquet analysis to obtain a



Figure 8: A comparision between the solutions obtained by solving a Mathieu equation and the solutions obtained using our algorithm for N=16 Taylor orders,  $N_x=16$  Fourier terms,  $\varepsilon=\frac{1}{100}$  and F=1.30



Figure 9: Relative error between the Mathieu equation solution and our algorithm solution for different  $N_x$  Fourier terms, N = 16 Taylor orders,  $\varepsilon = \frac{1}{100}$ and F = 1.30

very computationally expensive eigenvalue problem that they then solved to derive the solutions to their equations (102).

In figure (9), we show the  $\log_{10}$  of the relative errors (using the supremum norm) with respect to the number of Fourier terms  $(N_x)$ . As expected, the errors decrease when  $N_x$  increases except at a few isolated values of  $N_x$  where the error slightly goes up.

F	Error in $\eta$	Error in $\xi$
0	$2.94e^{-5}$	$9.53e^{-5}$
0.23	$2.82e^{-3}$	$1.54e^{-3}$
0.39	$7.96e^{-3}$	$4.90e^{-3}$
1.30	$3.11e^{-3}$	$2.80e^{-3}$

TABLE I: Relative Errors for different values of the Amplitude F of the forcing for N = 16 Taylor Orders,  $N_x = 16$  Fourier terms and  $\varepsilon = \frac{1}{100}$ 



FIGURE 10: STABILITY TONGUES FOR WATER AND AIR, F is the amplitude of the vertical forcing and k is the wavenumber.

#### 3.5.2 Numerical Stability

In this section, we reproduce in figure (10) the tongue-like stability zones obtained by Tuckermann and Kumar (1994) by using our algorithm as opposed to solving a Mathieu equation. We consider a vessel containing water at 20 degrees Celsius up to a height h = 29mm and the rest of the vessel is filled with air. The frequency of the forcing is 100Hz.

Inside the tongues (yellow) the solutions are unstable (growing or blowing up) and they stable outside of them (blue). The amplitude of the forcing at the interface of these regions is called the critical forcing. This is consistent with the stability tongues obtained by Tuckermann et al. We can see that the equations are stable for small forcing amplitude regardless of the wavenumber k. As in Tuckermann et al., we also see that the critical forcing increases with the wavenumber k which is expected since the viscous dissipation increases with k.

As it is usual when studying the Faraday wave experiment, we have produced an instability diagram with respect to the parameters of the model. Our method is not a standard one as we use Field Expansions to compute the DNO and a fourth order Runge-Kutta method to study the stability of our model instead of solving a Mathieu like equation. In the future, we would like to numerically simulate patterns at the water/air interface.

### CHAPTER 4

#### CONCLUSION

In this thesis, we have provided a novel approach to prove the well-posedness of a water wave equation with viscosity and surface tension. Our goal was to extend this proof to the case of the Faraday wave experiment where the liquid is subject to a vertical forcing. We were able to do so in the case of small forcing but not in the case of large forcing which we expect to achieve in the future.

We then solved the equations numerically by using Field Expansions and a fourth order Runge-Kutta method. First we studied traveling waves solutions when the viscosity and the surface tension are set to zero. In this case, we can derive the exact solutions by hand. We built a model for the full problem and provided satisfactory approximations to the exact solutions in the two dimensional and the three dimensional cases. Finally, we looked at the Faraday wave experiment by adding vertical forcing to our equations. First, we transformed our equations into the traditional Mathieu equation which allowed us to use classical methods to solve this equation. We used the solutions obtained from the Mathieu equation and compared them to the ones obtained using our new method. We then computed an instability diagram for the equations with respect to the parameters F (forcing) and k (wavenumber). This is important as it tells us how to pick our parameters when we perform the Faraday wave experiment which is a goal for us. APPENDICES

# Appendix A

# PROOF OF THE TRACE INEQUALITY

(Previously published as Ngom, M. and Nicholls, D. P.: Well-posedness and analyticity of solutions to a water wave problem with viscosity. J. Differential Equations, 265:5031-5075, 2018.)

The goal in this appendix is the proof of Lemma 2.2.3.

Proof. [Lemma 2.2.3] We begin by showing that

$$\|\sigma(x,0)\|_{H^{s-1}} \le C_t \, \|\sigma\|_{X^s} \,. \tag{A.0.1}$$

Following (39) we specify a function  $\rho(x,t)$ , defined for  $0 \le x \le 2\pi$  and  $-\infty < t < \infty$ , which agrees with  $\sigma$  for  $0 \le t \le 1$  and vanishes for  $t \le -1$  and  $t \ge 2$ , such that

$$\begin{split} M^{2} &:= \int_{-1}^{2} \sum_{p=-\infty}^{\infty} \left[ \langle p \rangle^{2s} \, |\hat{\rho}_{p}(u)|^{2} + \langle p \rangle^{2s-4} \, |\partial_{t}\hat{\rho}_{p}(u)|^{2} + \langle p \rangle^{2s-8} \, |\partial_{t}^{2}\hat{\rho}_{p}(u)|^{2} \right] \, du \\ &= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \sum_{p=-\infty}^{\infty} \left[ \langle p \rangle^{2s} \, |\hat{\rho}_{p}(u)|^{2} + \langle p \rangle^{2s-4} \, |\partial_{t}\hat{\rho}_{p}(u)|^{2} + \langle p \rangle^{2s-8} \, |\partial_{t}^{2}\hat{\rho}_{p}(u)|^{2} \right] \, du \\ &= \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \sum_{p=-\infty}^{\infty} \left\{ \langle p \rangle^{2s} + \langle \tau \rangle^{2} \langle p \rangle^{2s-4} + \langle \tau \rangle^{4} \langle p \rangle^{2s-8} \right\} |\tilde{\rho}_{p}(\tau)|^{2} \, d\tau \\ &\leq C \, \|\sigma\|_{X^{s}}^{2} \,, \end{split}$$

where  $\tilde{\rho}_p(\tau)$  is the space-time Fourier transform of  $\rho$ , and the penultimate equality comes from Parseval's relation. Since  $\|\sigma(x,0)\|_{H^{s-1}} = \|\rho(x,0)\|_{H^{s-1}}$ , to prove (Equation A.0.1) it suffices to show that

$$\|\rho(x,0)\|_{H^{s-1}} \le C_t M.$$

Now, by interpolation (2), we have

$$\|\rho(x,0)\|_{H^{s-1}}^2 \le C\left\{\|\rho(x,0)\|_{L^2}^2 + \|\partial_x^{s-1}\rho(x,0)\|_{L^2}^2\right\},\$$

and, from the classical trace theorem (2), we can bound the right hand side to deliver

$$\|\rho(x,0)\|_{H^{s-1}}^{2} \leq C\left\{\|\rho\|_{H^{1/2}(dx,dt)}^{2} + \|\partial_{x}^{s-1}\rho\|_{H^{1/2}(dx,dt)}^{2}\right\}$$
$$\leq C\int_{-\infty}^{\infty}\sum_{p=-\infty}^{\infty} \left(1+|p|^{2}+|\tau|^{2}\right)^{1/2} \left(1+|p|^{2(s-1)}\right) |\tilde{\rho}_{p}(\tau)|^{2} d\tau, \qquad (A.0.2)$$

Next, since  $\sqrt{1+x^2} \le 1+x$  for any x > 0, we have

$$\left[ 1 + |p|^2 + |\tau|^2 \right]^{1/2} \le 1 + \left[ |p|^2 + |\tau|^2 \right]^{1/2} = 1 + |p| \left[ 1 + \left( \frac{|\tau|}{|p|} \right)^2 \right]^{1/2}$$
$$\le 1 + |p| \left[ 1 + \frac{|\tau|}{|p|} \right] = 1 + |p| + |\tau| \,.$$

Thus we can conclude that

$$\begin{aligned} \|\rho(x,0)\|_{H^{s-1}}^2 &\leq C \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \sum_{p=-\infty}^{\infty} \left(1+|p|+|\tau|\right) \left(1+|p|^{2(s-1)}\right) |\tilde{\rho}_p(\tau)|^2 \ d\tau \\ &= C \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \sum_{p=-\infty}^{\infty} \left(1+|p|^{2s-2}+|p|+|p|^{2s-1}+|\tau|+|\tau| \left|p\right|^{2s-2}\right) |\tilde{\rho}_p(\tau)|^2 \ d\tau. \end{aligned}$$

Now, all of the terms on the right hand side will be bounded by  $M^2$  provided, for  $|p|, |\tau| > 1$ ,

$$\begin{split} 1 &\leq C \, |p|^{2s} & \text{requires } s \geq 0 \\ |p|^{2s-2} &\leq C \, |p|^{2s} & \text{requires } s \geq 0 \\ |p| &\leq C \, |p|^{2s} & \text{requires } s \geq 1/2 \\ |p|^{2s-1} &\leq C \, |p|^{2s} & \text{requires } s \geq 0 \\ |\tau| &\leq C \, |\tau|^2 \, |p|^{2s-4} & \text{requires } s \geq 2, \end{split}$$

and

$$|\tau| |p|^{2s-2} \le C |\tau|^2 |p|^{2s-4}$$
,

which requires more analysis. We note that

$$|\tau| |p|^{2s-2} = |\tau| |p|^a |p|^b \le \frac{1}{2} \left( |\tau|^2 |p|^{2a} + |p|^{2b} \right),$$

where a + b = 2s - 2. For our estimate we set 2a = 2s - 4 which demands that b = 2s - 2 - a = 2s - 2 - 2s + 4 = 2. In light of this we have the estimate

$$|\tau| |p|^{2s-2} \le \frac{1}{2} \left( |\tau|^2 |p|^{2s-4} + |p|^4 \right),$$

and we are done provided that  $2s \ge 4$ , or  $s \ge 2$ .

We now move to establishing

$$\|\partial_t \sigma(x,0)\|_{H^{s-3}} \le C_t \, \|\sigma\|_{X^s} \,. \tag{A.0.3}$$

The proof is identical to that presented above save that we must bound

$$(1+|p|^2+|\tau|^2)^{1/2}(1+|p|^{2(s-3)})|\tau|^2,$$

c.f., (Equation A.0.2). All of the terms on the right hand side will be bounded by M provided

 $\begin{aligned} |\tau|^2 &\leq C |\tau|^2 |p|^{2s-4} & \text{requires } s \geq 2 \\ |\tau|^2 |p|^{2s-6} &\leq C |\tau|^2 |p|^{2s-4} & \text{requires } s \geq 0 \\ |\tau|^2 |p| &\leq C |\tau|^2 |p|^{2s-4} & \text{requires } s \geq 5/2 \\ |\tau|^2 |p|^{2s-5} &\leq C\tau^2 |p|^{2s-4} & \text{requires } s \geq 0 \\ |\tau|^3 &\leq C |\tau|^4 |p|^{2s-8} & \text{requires } s \geq 4, \end{aligned}$ 

and

$$|\tau|^{3} |p|^{2s-6} \le C |\tau|^{4} |p|^{2s-8}$$
,

which requires more analysis. We note that, from Hölder's Inequality,

$$|\tau|^{3} |p|^{2s-6} = |\tau|^{3} |p|^{a} |p|^{b} \le \frac{3}{4} \left( |\tau|^{3} |p|^{a} \right)^{4/3} + \frac{1}{4} \left( |p|^{b} \right)^{4} = \frac{3}{4} |\tau|^{4} |p|^{4a/3} + \frac{1}{4} |p|^{4b} + \frac{$$

where a + b = 2s - 6. For our estimate we set 4a/3 = 2s - 8, or a = (3/2)s - 6, which demands that b = 2s - 6 - a = 2s - 6 - (3/2)s + 6 = (1/2)s, or 4b = 2s. In light of this we have the estimate

$$|\tau|^{3} |p|^{2s-6} \le \frac{3}{4} |\tau|^{4} |p|^{2s-8} + \frac{1}{4} |p|^{2s}$$

and we are done provided that  $s \ge 4$ .

n	-	-	-
L			
L			
-	_	_	

# Appendix B

## PRODUCTS OF ANALYTIC FUNCTIONS

(Previously published as Ngom, M. and Nicholls, D. P.: Well-posedness and analyticity of solutions to a water wave problem with viscosity. J. Differential Equations, 265:5031-5075, 2018.)

In this section we collect some identities involving the products of analytic functions in terms of their Taylor series. To begin let suppose that A, B, C, D are analytic functions of  $\varepsilon$  so that the following Taylor series are convergent

$$D = D(\varepsilon) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} D_n \varepsilon^n, \quad E = E(\varepsilon) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} E_n \varepsilon^n, \quad (B.0.1a)$$

$$F = F(\varepsilon) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} F_n \varepsilon^n, \quad G = G(\varepsilon) = \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} G_n \varepsilon^n.$$
 (B.0.1b)

It is not difficult to see that

$$D(\varepsilon)E(\varepsilon) = \sum_{n=2}^{\infty} \llbracket DE \rrbracket_n \varepsilon^n, \quad \llbracket DE \rrbracket_n := \sum_{m=1}^{n-1} D_{n-m}E_m,$$
(B.0.2a)

and

$$D(\varepsilon)E(\varepsilon)F(\varepsilon) = \sum_{n=3}^{\infty} \llbracket DEF \rrbracket_n \varepsilon^n, \quad \llbracket DEF \rrbracket_n := \sum_{m=2}^{n-1} \sum_{\ell=1}^{m-1} D_{n-m} E_{m-\ell} F_\ell, \quad (B.0.2b)$$

and

$$D(\varepsilon)E(\varepsilon)F(\varepsilon)G(\varepsilon) = \sum_{n=4}^{\infty} \left[\!\left[ DEFG \right]\!\right]_n \varepsilon^n, \quad \left[\!\left[ DEFG \right]\!\right]_n := \sum_{m=3}^{n-1} \sum_{\ell=1}^{m-1} \sum_{q=1}^{\ell-1} D_{n-m} E_{m-\ell} F_{\ell-q} G_q.$$
(B.0.2c)

For the results above to be true, the quantities  $\{D, E, F, G\}$  need not be scalars and may be members of *any* normed linear space, Z. From these expansions we can prove the following fundamental result provided that the norm,  $\|\cdot\|_Z$ , satisfies the algebra property

$$\|DE\|_{Z} \le M \|D\|_{Z} \|E\|_{Z}, \tag{B.0.3}$$

for some M > 0, e.g., the spaces  $H^s$ ,  $X^s$ , and  $V^s$  provided that s is large large enough ( $s \ge 4$  is certainly sufficient), c.f. Lemma 2.2.1.

**Theorem B.0.1.** Suppose that  $D, E, F, G \in Z$ , a normed linear space with norm satisfying the algebra property (Equation B.0.3). If D, E, F, G are all analytic in  $\varepsilon$  with Taylor series expansions (Equation B.0.1) such that

$$\|D_n\|_Z < C_D \frac{B^{n-1}}{(n+1)^2}, \quad \|E_n\|_Z < C_E \frac{B^{n-1}}{(n+1)^2},$$
$$\|F_n\|_Z < C_F \frac{B^{n-1}}{(n+1)^2}, \quad \|G_n\|_Z < C_G \frac{B^{n-1}}{(n+1)^2},$$

for constants  $C_D, C_E, C_F, C_G, B > 0$ . Then  $DE, DEF, DEFG \in Z$  are all analytic in  $\varepsilon$  as well, satisfying

$$\|\llbracket DE \rrbracket_n\|_Z < C[D, E] \frac{B^{n-2}}{(n+1)^2}, \quad \|\llbracket DEF \rrbracket_n\|_Z < C[D, E, F] \frac{B^{n-3}}{(n+1)^2}, \tag{B.0.4a}$$

$$\|[\![DEFG]\!]_n\|_Z < C[D, E, F, G] \frac{B^{n-4}}{(n+1)^2}, \tag{B.0.4b}$$

where

$$C[D, E] = C_D C_E M \Sigma, \quad C[D, E, F] = C_D C_E C_F M^2 \Sigma,$$
$$C[D, E, F, G] = C_D C_E C_F C_G M^3 \Sigma,$$

c.f. Lemma 2.2.5.

*Proof.* The proof is straightforward and we only present it for the final estimate (Equation B.0.4b). From (Equation B.0.2c) we have

$$\begin{split} \| \llbracket DEFG \|_{n} \|_{Z} &\leq \sum_{m=3}^{n-1} \sum_{\ell=1}^{m-1} \sum_{q=1}^{\ell-1} \| D_{n-m} E_{m-\ell} F_{\ell-q} G_{q} \|_{Z} \\ &\leq \sum_{m=3}^{n-1} \sum_{\ell=1}^{m-1} \sum_{q=1}^{\ell-1} M^{3} \| D_{n-m} \|_{Z} \| E_{m-\ell} \|_{Z} \| F_{\ell-q} \|_{Z} \| G_{q} \|_{Z} \\ &\leq \sum_{m=3}^{n-1} \sum_{\ell=1}^{m-1} \sum_{q=1}^{\ell-1} M^{3} C_{D} \frac{B^{n-m-1}}{(n-m+1)^{2}} C_{E} \frac{B^{m-\ell-1}}{(m-\ell+1)^{2}} \\ &\times C_{F} \frac{B^{\ell-q-1}}{(\ell-q+1)^{2}} C_{G} \frac{B^{q-1}}{(q+1)^{2}} \\ &\leq C_{D} C_{E} C_{F} C_{G} M^{3} \frac{B^{n-4}}{(n+1)^{2}} \\ &\times \sum_{m=3}^{n-1} \sum_{\ell=1}^{m-1} \sum_{q=1}^{\ell-1} \frac{(n+1)^{2}}{(n-m+1)^{2}(m-\ell+1)^{2}(\ell-q+1)^{2}(q+1)^{2}} \\ &\leq C_{D} C_{E} C_{F} C_{G} M^{3} \Sigma \frac{B^{n-4}}{(n+1)^{2}}, \end{split}$$

from Lemma 2.2.5. The estimates (Equation B.0.4) can readily used in an inductive proof of the analyticity of all of the products DE, DEF, and DEFG.

# Appendix C

## PERMISSIONS FOR THE INCLUSION OF PUBLISHED WORKS

The paper used in Chapters 1 and 2 of this thesis was published by Elsevier, which allows authors to use their articles in their thesis. Their policy states "Authors can include their articles in full or in part in a thesis or dissertation for non-commercial purposes." and is available at https://www.elsevier.com/about/policies/copyright/permissions.

### CITED LITERATURE

- 1. Acheson, D. J.: <u>Elementary fluid dynamics</u>. New York, The Clarendon Press, Oxford University Press, 1990.
- Adams, R. A.: <u>Sobolev spaces</u>. Academic Press [A subsidiary of Harcourt Brace Jovanovich, <u>Publishers</u>], New York-London, 1975. Pure and Applied Mathematics, Vol. 65.
- 3. Airy, G.: Tides and waves. Encyclopedia Metropolitana, 5:241–396, 1845.
- 4. Akers, B. and Nicholls, D. P.: Traveling waves in deep water with gravity and surface tension. SIAM Journal on Applied Mathematics, 70(7):2373–2389, 2010.
- 5. Akers, B. and Nicholls, D. P.: Spectral stability of deep two-dimensional gravity-capillary water waves. Studies in Applied Mathematics, 130:81–107, 2012.
- Akers, B. and Nicholls, D. P.: Spectral stability of deep two-dimensional gravity water waves: Repeated eigenvalues. <u>SIAM Journal on Applied Mathematics</u>, 72(2):689– 711, 2012.
- 7. Akers, B. and Nicholls, D. P.: Spectral stability of finite depth water waves. <u>European</u> Journal of Mechanics B/Fluids, 46:181–189, 2014.
- Ambrose, D., Bona, J., and Nicholls, D. P.: Well-posedness of a model for water waves with viscosity. <u>Discrete and Continuous Dynamical Systems, Series B</u>, 17(4):1113–1137, 2012.
- Ambrose, D., Bona, J., and Nicholls, D. P.: On ill-posedness of truncated series models for water waves. Proceedings of the Royal Society of London, A, 470:xx-xx, 2014.
- Ambrose, D. and Nicholls, D. P.: Fokas integral equations for three dimensional layeredmedia scattering. Journal of Computational Physics, 276:1–25, 2014.
- Ambrose, D.: Vortex sheet formulations and initial value problems: Analysis and computing. In <u>Lectures on the theory of water waves</u>, volume 426 of <u>London Math.</u> Soc. Lecture Note Ser., pages 140–170. Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 2016.

- Ambrose, D. and Masmoudi, N.: The zero surface tension limit of two-dimensional water waves. Comm. Pure Appl. Math., 58:1287–1315, 2005.
- 13. Ambrose, D. M.: Well-posedness of vortex sheets with surface tension. <u>SIAM J. Math.</u> Anal., 35(1):211–244 (electronic), 2003.
- Benjamin, T. B. and Ursell, F.: The stability of a plane free surface of a liquid in vertical periodic motion. Proc. R. Soc. Lond., A225:505–515, 1954.
- Binford, T., Nicholls, D. P., Nigam, N., and Warburton, T.: Exact non-reflecting boundary conditions on general domains and hp-finite elements. <u>Journal of Scientific</u> Computing, 39(2):265–292, 2009.
- Borluk, H., Kalisch, H., and Nicholls, D. P.: A numerical study of the Whitham equation as a model for steady surface water waves. Journal of Computational and Applied Mathematics, 296:293–302, 2016.
- Boussinesq, M.: Théorie de l'intumescence liquide appelée onde solitaire ou de translation, se propegeant dans un canal rectangulaire. <u>Acad. Sci. Paris, Comptes Rendus</u>, 72:256–260, 1871.
- eds, T. Bridges, M. Groves, and D. P. Nicholls <u>Lectures on Water Waves</u>, volume 426 of <u>London Mathematical Society Lecture Note Series</u>. Cambridge University Press, 2016.
- Canning, R. and Nicholls, D. P.: Numerical simulation of a weakly nonlinear model for internal waves. <u>Communications in Computational Physics</u>, 12(5):1461–1481, 2012.
- Chandezon, J., Maystre, D., and Raoult, G.: A new theoretical method for diffraction gratings and its numerical application. J. Opt., 11(7):235-241, 1980.
- Cheng, T., Li, P., and Wang, Y.: Near-field imaging of perfectly conducting grating surfaces. J. Opt. Soc. Am. A, 30:2473–2481, 2013.
- Chindelevitch, L., Nicholls, D. P., and Nigam, N.: Error analysis and preconditioning for an enhanced DtN–FE algorithm for exterior scattering problems. J. Comput. App. Math., 204:493–504, 2007.

- Craig, W., Guyenne, P., Nicholls, D. P., and Sulem, C.: Hamiltonian long wave expansions for water waves over a rough bottom. <u>Proc. Roy. Soc. Lond., A</u>, 461(2055):839– 873, 2005.
- Craig, W. and Nicholls, D. P.: Traveling two and three dimensional capillary gravity water waves. SIAM J. Math. Anal., 32(2):323–359, 2000.
- Craig, W. and Nicholls, D. P.: Traveling gravity water waves in two and three dimensions. Eur. J. Mech. B Fluids, 21(6):615–641, 2002.
- 26. Craig, W.: Birkhoff normal forms for water waves. In <u>Mathematical problems in the theory of water waves (Luminy, 1995)</u>, volume 200 of <u>Contemp. Math.</u>, pages 57–74. Providence, RI, Amer. Math. Soc., 1996.
- 27. Craig, W.: Personal Communication, 1998.
- Craig, W., Schanz, U., and Sulem, C.: The modulation regime of three-dimensional water waves and the Davey-Stewartson system. <u>Ann. Inst. Henri Poincaré</u>, 14:615–667, 1997.
- 29. Craig, W. and Sulem, C.: Numerical simulation of gravity waves. 108:73–83, 1993.
- Dias, F., Dyachenko, A., and Zakharov, V.: Theory of weakly damped free-surface flows: A new formulation based on potential flow solutions. <u>Phys. Lett. A</u>, 372:1297– 1302, 2008.
- Dutykh, D. and Dias, F.: Viscous potential free-surface flows in a fluid layer of finite depth. C. R. Math. Acad. Sci. Paris, 345(2):113–118, 2007.
- 32. Evans, L. C.: <u>Partial differential equations</u>. Providence, RI, American Mathematical Society, second edition, 2010.
- Fang, Q., Nicholls, D. P., and Shen, J.: A stable, high–order method for three–dimensional bounded–obstacle scattering. J. Comput. Phys., 224(2):1145–1169, 2007.
- 34. Fang, Z. and Nicholls, D. P.: An operator expansions method for computing Dirichlet– Neumann operators in linear elastodynamics. <u>Journal of Computational Physics</u>, 272:266–278, 2014.

- Faraday, M.: On the forms and states of fluids on vibrating elastic surfaces. <u>Phil. Trans.</u> R. Soc. Lond., 52:299340, 1831.
- Fazioli, C. and Nicholls, D. P.: Parametric analyticity of functional variations of Dirichlet– Neumann operators. Diff. Integ. Eqns., 21(5–6):541–574, 2008.
- 37. Fazioli, C. and Nicholls, D. P.: Stable computation of variations of Dirichlet–Neumann operators. Journal of Computational Physics, 229(3):906–920, 2010.
- Fine, A., Nicholls, D. P., and Mogul, D.: Assessing instantaneous synchrony of nonlinear, nonstationary oscillators in the brain. <u>Journal of Neuroscience Methods</u>, 186(1):42–51, 2010.
- Friedman, A. and Reitich, F.: Nonlinear stability of a quasi-static Stefan problem with surface tension: a continuation approach. <u>Ann. Scuola Norm. Sup. Pisa Cl. Sci.</u> (4), 30(2):341–403, 2001.
- 40. Friedman, A. and Reitich, F.: On the existence of spatially patterned dormant malignancies in a model for the growth of non-necrotic vascular tumors. <u>Math. Models</u> Methods Appl. Sci., 11(4):601–625, 2001.
- Friedman, A. and Reitich, F.: Quasi-static motion of a capillary drop. II. The threedimensional case. J. Differential Equations, 186(2):509–557, 2002.
- Friedman, A. and Reitich, F.: Quasistatic motion of a capillary drop. I. The twodimensional case. J. Differential Equations, 178(1):212-263, 2002.
- 43. Gorsky, J. and Nicholls, D. P.: A small dispersion limit to the Camassa-Holm equation: A numerical study. Math. Comput. Simul., 80(1):120–130, 2009.
- Guyenne, P. and Nicholls, D. P.: Numerical simulation of solitary waves on plane slopes. Math. Comput. Simul., 69:269–281, 2005.
- Guyenne, P. and Nicholls, D. P.: A high–order spectral method for nonlinear water waves over bottom topography. SIAM J. Sci. Comput., 30(1):81–101, 2007.
- 46. eds, P. Guyenne, D. P. Nicholls, and C. Sulem <u>Hamiltonian Partial Differential Equations</u> and Applications, volume 75 of Fields Institute Communications. Springer, 2015.

- Haragus-Courcelle, M., Nicholls, D. P., and Sattinger, D. H.: Solitary wave interactions of the Euler–Poisson equations. J. Math. Fluid Mech., 5(1):92–118, 2003.
- 48. He, Y., Nicholls, D. P., and Shen, J.: An efficient and stable spectral method for electromagnetic scattering from a layered periodic structure. <u>Journal of Computational</u> Physics, 231(8):3007–3022, 2012.
- Hu, B. and Nicholls, D. P.: Analyticity of Dirichlet–Neumann operators on Hölder and Lipschitz domains. SIAM J. Math. Anal., 37(1):302–320, 2005.
- 50. Hu, B. and Nicholls, D. P.: The domain of analyticity of Dirichlet–Neumann operators. Proceedings of the Royal Society of Edinburgh A, 140(2):367–389, 2010.
- Kakleas, M. and Nicholls, D. P.: Numerical simulation of a weakly nonlinear model for water waves with viscosity. Journal of Scientific Computing, 42(2):274–290, 2010.
- Keller, H. B.: Accurate difference methods for linear ordinary differential systems subject to linear constraints. SIAM J. Numer. Anal., 6:8–30, 1969.
- 53. Korteweg, D. and de Vries, G.: On the change of form of long waves advancing in a rectangular channel, and on a new type of long stationary waves. <u>Philos. Mag.</u>, 5(39):422–443, 1895.
- 54. Ladyzhenskaya, O. A. and Ural'tseva, N. N.: <u>Linear and quasilinear elliptic equations</u>. New York, Academic Press, 1968.
- 55. Lamb, H.: Hydrodynamics. Cambridge, Cambridge University Press, sixth edition, 1993.
- Lannes, D.: Well-posedness of the water-waves equations. J. Amer. Math. Soc., 18(3):605– 654 (electronic), 2005.
- 57. Majda, A. J. and Bertozzi, A. L.: <u>Vorticity and incompressible flow</u>, volume 27 of <u>Cambridge Texts in Applied Mathematics</u>. Cambridge, Cambridge University Press, 2002.
- 58. Malcolm, A. and Nicholls, D. P.: A boundary perturbation method for recovering interface shapes in layered media. Inverse Problems, 27(9):095009, 2011.

- Malcolm, A. and Nicholls, D. P.: A field expansions method for scattering by periodic multilayered media. <u>Journal of the Acoustical Society of America</u>, 129(4):1783– 1793, 2011.
- Malcolm, A. and Nicholls, D. P.: Operator expansions and constrained quadratic optimization for interface reconstruction: Impenetrable acoustic media. <u>Wave Motion</u>, 51:23–40, 2014.
- McBride, T. and Nicholls, D. P.: On stability of generalized short-crested water waves. Physica D, 241:1406–1416, 2012.
- Ngom, M. and Nicholls, D. P.: Well-posedness and analyticity of solutions to a water wave problem with viscosity. J. Differential Equations, 265:5031–5075, 2018.
- Nicholls, D. P.: Traveling Gravity Water Waves in Two and Three Dimensions. Doctoral dissertation, Brown University, 1998.
- Nicholls, D. P.: Traveling water waves: Spectral continuation methods with parallel implementation. J. Comput. Phys., 143(1):224–240, 1998.
- Nicholls, D. P.: On hexagonal gravity water waves. <u>Math. Comput. Simul.</u>, 55(4–6):567– 575, 2001.
- 66. Nicholls, D. P.: Boundary perturbation methods for water waves. <u>GAMM–Mitteilungen</u>, 30(1):44–74, 2007.
- Nicholls, D. P.: Spectral stability of traveling water waves: Analytic dependence of the spectrum. J. Nonlin. Sci., 17(4):369–397, 2007.
- Nicholls, D. P.: A rapid boundary perturbation algorithm for scattering by families of rough surfaces. Journal of Computational Physics, 228(9):3405–3420, 2009.
- Nicholls, D. P.: Spectral data for traveling water waves: Singularities and stability. Journal of Fluid Mechanics, 624:339–360, 2009.
- Nicholls, D. P.: Efficient enforcement of far-field boundary conditions in the transformed field expansions method. <u>Journal of Computational Physics</u>, 230(22):8290–8303, 2011.
- Nicholls, D. P.: Spectral stability of traveling water waves: Eigenvalue collision, singularities, and direct numerical simulation. Physica D, 240(4–5):376–381, 2011.
- 72. Nicholls, D. P.: Three–dimensional acoustic scattering by layered media: A novel surface formulation with operator expansions implementation. <u>Proceedings of the Royal</u> Society of London, A, 468:731–758, 2012.
- 73. Nicholls, D. P.: A method of field expansions for vector electromagnetic scattering by layered periodic crossed gratings. <u>Journal of the Optical Society of America, A</u>, 32(5):701–709, 2015.
- 74. Nicholls, D. P.: High-order perturbation of surfaces (hops) short course: Analyticity theory. <u>Lectures on Water Waves</u>, <u>London Mathematical Society Lecture Note</u> Series, 101:426, 2016.
- 75. Nicholls, D. P.: On analyticity of linear waves scattered by a layered medium. <u>submitted</u>, 2016.
- Nicholls, D. P. and Nigam, N.: Exact non-reflecting boundary conditions on general domains. J. Comput. Phys., 194(1):278–303, 2004.
- 77. Nicholls, D. P. and Nigam, N.: Error analysis of a coupled finite element/DtN map algorithm on general domains. Numer. Math., 105(2):267–298, 2006.
- Nicholls, D. P. and Orville, J.: A boundary perturbation method for electromagnetic scattering from families of doubly periodic gratings. <u>Journal of Scientific Computing</u>, 45(1):471–486, 2010.
- 79. Nicholls, D. P. and Reitich, F.: A new approach to analyticity of Dirichlet-Neumann operators. Proc. Roy. Soc. Edinburgh Sect. A, 131(6):1411–1433, 2001.
- Nicholls, D. P. and Reitich, F.: Stability of high-order perturbative methods for the computation of Dirichlet-Neumann operators. J. Comput. Phys., 170(1):276–298, 2001.
- Nicholls, D. P. and Reitich, F.: Analytic continuation of Dirichlet-Neumann operators. Numer. Math., 94(1):107–146, 2003.
- Nicholls, D. P. and Reitich, F.: Shape deformations in rough surface scattering: Cancellations, conditioning, and convergence. J. Opt. Soc. Am. A, 21(4):590–605, 2004.

- Nicholls, D. P. and Reitich, F.: Shape deformations in rough surface scattering: Improved algorithms. J. Opt. Soc. Am. A, 21(4):606–621, 2004.
- Nicholls, D. P. and Reitich, F.: On analyticity of traveling water waves. Proc. Roy. Soc. Lond., A, 461(2057):1283–1309, 2005.
- Nicholls, D. P. and Reitich, F.: Rapid, stable, high-order computation of traveling water waves in three dimensions. Eur. J. Mech. B Fluids, 25(4):406-424, 2006.
- Nicholls, D. P. and Reitich, F.: Boundary perturbation methods for high–frequency acoustic scattering: Shallow periodic gratings. J. Acoust. Soc. Amer., 123(5):2531–2541, 2008.
- 87. Nicholls, D. P., Reitich, F., Johnson, T. W., and Oh, S.-H.: Fast high–order perturbation of surfaces (HOPS) methods for simulation of multi–layer plasmonic devices and metamaterials. Journal of the Optical Society of America, A, 31(8):1820–1831, 2014.
- Nicholls, D. P. and Shen, J.: A stable, high–order method for two–dimensional bounded– obstacle scattering. SIAM J. Sci. Comput., 28(4):1398–1419, 2006.
- 89. Nicholls, D. P. and Shen, J.: A rigorous numerical analysis of the transformed field expansion method. SIAM Journal on Numerical Analysis, 47(4):2708–2734, 2009.
- 90. Nicholls, D. P. and Sward, A.: A discontinuous Galerkin method for pricing American options under the constant elasticity of variance model. <u>Communications in</u> Computational Physics, 17(3):761–778, 2015.
- 91. Nicholls, D. P. and Taber, M.: Joint analyticity and analytic continuation for Dirichlet–Neumann operators on doubly perturbed domains. J. Math. Fluid Mech., 10(2):238–271, 2008.
- Nicholls, D. P. and Taber, M.: Detection of ocean bathymetry from surface wave measurements. Euro. J. Mech. B/Fluids, 28(2):224–233, 2009.
- 93. Nicholls, D. P.: High–order perturbation of surfaces short course: analyticity theory. In Lectures on the theory of water waves, volume 426 of London Math. Soc. Lecture Note Ser., pages 32–50. Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 2016.

- 94. Nicholls, D. P.: High–order perturbation of surfaces short course: boundary value problems. In Lectures on the theory of water waves, volume 426 of London Math. Soc. Lecture Note Ser., pages 1–18. Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 2016.
- Phillips, N. A.: A coordinate system having some special advantages for numerical forecasting. Journal of the Atmospheric Sciences, 14(2):184–185, 1957.
- 96. Rayleigh, L.: On waves. Philos. Mag., 5(1):257–279, 1876.
- 97. Russell, J.: Report on waves. In Report of the Fourteenth Meeting of the British Association for the Advancement of Science, pages 311–390. 1844.
- 98. Sobayo, T., Fine, A., Gunnar, E., Kazlauskas, C., Nicholls, D. P., and Mogul, D.: Synchrony dynamics across brain structures in limbic epilepsy vary between initiation and termination phases of seizures. <u>IEEE Transactions on Biomedical</u> Engineering, 60(3):821–829, 2013.
- 99. Stoker, J. J.: <u>Water waves</u>. New York, John Wiley & Sons Inc., 1992. The mathematical theory with applications, Reprint of the 1957 original, A Wiley-Interscience Publication.
- 100. Stokes, G.: On the theory of oscillatory waves. <u>Transactions of the Cambridge</u> Philosophical Society, 8:441–473, 1847.
- 101. Trefethen, L. N.: <u>Spectral methods in MATLAB</u>, volume 10 of <u>Software</u>, Environments, <u>and Tools</u>. Society for Industrial and Applied Mathematics (SIAM), Philadelphia, <u>PA</u>, 2000.
- 102. Tuckerman, L. and Kumar, K.: Parametric instability of the interface between two fluids. J. Fluid Mech., 279:49–68, 1994.
- 103. Wu, S.: Well-posedness in Sobolev spaces of the full water wave problem in 2-D. <u>Invent.</u> Math., 130(1):39–72, 1997.
- 104. Wu, S.: Well-posedness in Sobolev spaces of the full water wave problem in 3-D. J. Amer. Math. Soc., 12(2):445–495, 1999.
- 105. Wu, S.: Wellposedness and singularities of the water wave equations. In Lectures on the theory of water waves, volume 426 of London Math. Soc. Lecture Note Ser., pages 171–202. Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, 2016.

- 106. Zakharov, V.: Stability of periodic waves of finite amplitude on the surface of a deep fluid. Journal of Applied Mechanics and Technical Physics, 9:190–194, 1968.
- 107. Zhang, G. Q.: Integrated solutions of ordinary differential equation system and two-point boundary value problems. I. Integrated solution method. <u>Math. Numer. Sinica</u>, 3(3):245–254, 1981.
- 108. Zhang, G. Q.: Integrated solutions of ordinary differential equations system and two-point boundary value problems. II. Stability. Math. Numer. Sinica, 3(4):329–339, 1981.

# VITA

⊠ mngom2@uic.edu

# Marième Ngom

## Education

2014-2019 PhD in Applied Mathematics, University of Illinois at Chicago, Chicago, Illinois, Studying Partial Differential Equations.

Minor: Statistics

- 2013-2014 **Master of Science in Mathematics**, *University of Paris-Sud*, Orsay, France, Specialized in Partial Differential Equations and Scientific Computing.
- 2010-2013 Master of Engineering in Computer Science and Applied Mathematics, *INP-ENSEEIHT & French Meteorology University*, Toulouse, France, Specialized in High Performance Computing and Forecast in Stochastic Dynamical Systems.
- 2007–2010 Classes Préparatoires aux Grandes Écoles, Fénelon Sainte-Marie, Paris, France, 3-years of intensive undergraduate courses to prepare competitive entrance to National Engineering Schools. Specialized in Mathematics and Physics.

## **Computer Skills**

Programming MATLAB, JAVA, C, PYTHON, FORTRAN, R, FREEFEM++

Languages

Libraries MPI, BLAS, LAPACK

# Experience

- 2014-Now Teaching Assistant, UNIVERSITY OF ILLINOIS AT CHICAGO, Chicago, Illinois.
  - Teaching and grading undergraduate level Mathematics classes (Precalculus, Calculus 1, Calculus for Business Majors, Introduction to Differential Equations, Statistical Theory, Numerical Analysis)
  - 2014, Intern, ELECTRICITÉ DE FRANCE, Paris, France.
- April-August Successfully implemented a code that aimed at reconstructing copper deposit layers on steam generator tubes by using signals from Eddy current coil.
- 2013, April- Research Intern, LAWRENCE BERKELEY NATIONAL LABORATORY/EUROPEAN CENTER FOR RESEARCH AND
- ${\small {\sf September}} \quad {\small {\rm Advanced \ Training \ in \ Scientific \ Computing, \ Berkeley, \ California/Toulouse, \ France.} \\$ 
  - Established the stability of a block low-rank factorization and of the factorization of matrices having Hierarchically Semi-Separable representations,
  - Tested the stability with Fortran codes in a parallel setting.
  - 2012, Intern, NUMERICAL OPTIMIZATION GROUP OF THE UNIVERSITY OF FLORENCE, Florence, Italia.
- June-August Studied preconditioners for sequences of diagonally modified linear systems as well as limited-memory preconditioners for large scale linear systems with multiple right-hand sides.

## Publications

Marième Ngom and David P. Nicholls, "Well-Posedness and Analyticity of Solutions to a Water Wave Problem with Viscosity", Journal of Differential Equations Volume 365, Issue 10, 5031-5065 (2018).

Alfredo Buttari, Serge Gratton, Xiaoye S. Li, Marième Ngom, François-Henry Rouet, David Titley-Peloquin and Clément Weisbecker, "Error Analysis of the Block Low-Rank LU factorization of dense matrices", Technical Report, IRIT-CERFACS, RT-APO-13-7 (2013).

# Talks

"Error Analysis of Block Low-Rank factorizations", Argonne National Laboratory Seminar, Lemont, II (December 2018).

"Well-Posedness and Analyticity of Solutions to a Water Wave Problem with Viscosity", Chicago area SIAM student chapter, Illinois Institute of Technology, Chicago, II (April 2018).

"Numerical Weather Prediction", Association for Women in Mathematics, University of Illinois at Chicago, Chicago, II (March 2016).

"Error Analysis of the Block Low-Rank LU factorization of dense matrices", Low-rank Workshop, LSTC, Livermore, Ca (August 2013).

#### Languages